THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Microbial strategies for deconstruction of bark components

AMANDA SÖRENSEN RISTINMAA



Department of Life Sciences CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2023 Microbial strategies for deconstruction of bark components AMANDA SÖRENSEN RISTINMAA

ISBN 978-91-7905-884-5 © AMANDA SÖRENSEN RISTINMAA, 2023.

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie nr 5350 ISSN 0346-71 Division of Industrial Biotechnology Department of Life Sciences Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Cover: Fungi thriving in a woodland environment. Artist: Diane Sandall Back: *Pseudomonas abieticivorans*. Artist: Diane Sandall

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice, Gothenburg, Sweden 2023

"Det är bara lite *otur* i arbetet."

- Farfar

[on failure]

Preface

This dissertation serves as partial fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the Department of Life Sciences at Chalmers University of Technology. The work was funded by the Swedish Energy Agency. The PhD studies were carried out between April 2019 and September 2023 under the supervision of Assoc. Prof. Johan Larsbrink and co-supervision of Assoc. Prof. Merima Hasani. The thesis was examined by Prof. Pernilla Wittung-Stafshede.

The majority of the work in this thesis was carried out at the Division of Industrial Biotechnology (IndBio) and Forest Products and Chemical engineering at Chalmers University of Technology. Proteomics experiments were conducted during a research visit at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences funded by a grant from Nils Philblads foundation. Elemental analysis experiments were conducted at Chalmers Materials Analysis Laboratory (CMAL). Nuclear magnetic resonance experiments were conducted at the Department of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering by Dr. Alexander Idström. Mass spectrometry experiments were executed at the Separation Science Laboratory at AstraZeneca by Annika Langborg Weinmann. Methanolysis experiments were conducted at by Ekaterina Korotkova at Johan Gadolin Process Chemistry Centre, Åbo Akademi University. Crystallization experiments were performed at Gothenburg University and X-ray diffraction data were collected at the MAX IV Laboratory by Dr. Tom Coleman. Transmission electron microscopy experiments were performed at Gothenburg University by Sebastian Valenzuela.

Microbial strategies for deconstruction of bark components

Amanda Sörensen Ristinmaa Division of Industrial Biotechnology Department of Life Sciences Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

Bark is the outermost part of a tree, and it is a protective layer against external threats such as microorganisms and environmental stressors. Bark consists of various polymers including lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose, and it also contains a large fraction of compounds known as extractives. The polymers and extractives are assembled into a heterogenous complex matrix, forming a highly recalcitrant material. Despite its protective role, bark is degraded in nature by microorganisms, yet little is known about the specific microorganisms involved and how they affect bark composition.

In this thesis, I have investigated different strategies that individual species and microbial communities employ to degrade bark and how enzymes hydrolyze pure polysaccharides and extractive compounds, focusing on spruce bark degradation. I analyzed a microbial community growing on spruce bark over six months and observed significant effects on the extractives, especially resin acids at the start of the cultivation. The community was dominated by bacteria, and guided by metagenomics, a new Pseudomonas species was isolated, sequenced, and shown to degrade the major resin acids present in spruce bark. The role of filamentous fungi in the microbial community was unclear, despite their reputation as exceptional lignocellulose degraders. Therefore, I studied fungi from the Basidiomycota and Ascomycota phyla known to employ different lignocellulose degradation strategies. I showed that the Basidiomycetes can degrade/modify resin acids, while the Ascomycetes instead appeared to tolerate resin acids. All fungi investigated were able to degrade the bark polysaccharides, with significant differences in pectin and xylan degradation. To understand xylan degrading mechanisms in more detail, I studied the growth of taxonomically different yeasts and biochemically characterized their xylanases. One of the yeasts, Wickerhamomyces canadensis, grew poorly on xylan but its growth was boosted when co-cultured with another yeast, Blastobotrys mokoenaii. This suggests that W. canadensis is a secondary degrader of xylan. For in-depth studies of extractive-degrading enzymes, I biochemically characterized three tannases from the bacterium Clostridium butyricum and demonstrated their ability to cleave oak bark tannins. My work contributes to our understanding of the microbial degradation of bark and the strategies employed by microbial communities, individual species, and enzymes to degrade bark.

Keywords: Bark, microbial communities, fungi, yeast, bacteria, polysaccharides, extractives, enzymes, proteomics.

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. <u>Amanda Sörensen Ristinmaa</u>, Albert Tafur Rangel, Alexander Idström, Sebastian Valenzuela, Eduard J. Kerkhoven, Phillip B. Pope, Merima Hasani, and Johan Larsbrink
 Resin acids play key roles in shaping microbial communities during degradation of spruce bark. *Submitted for publication. Preprint available online.* DOI: 10.1101/2023.04.19.537524
- II. <u>Amanda Sörensen Ristinmaa</u>, Ekaterina Korotkova, Magnus Ø. Arntzen, Vincent G. H. Eijsink, Chunlin Xu, Anna Sundberg, Merima Hasani, and Johan Larsbrink Exploring fungal strategies for degradation of spruce bark and its extractives and polysaccharides. *Manuscript*.
- III. Jonas Laukkonen Ravn, <u>Amanda Sörensen Ristinmaa</u>, Tom Coleman, Johan Larsbrink, and Cecilia Geijer (2023)
 Yeasts have evolved divergent enzyme strategies to deconstruct and metabolize xylan, *Microbiology Spectrum*, 11(3), e00245-23.
 DOI:10.1128/spectrum.00245-23
- IV. <u>Amanda Sörensen Ristinmaa</u>, Tom Coleman, Leona Cesar, Annika Langborg Weinmann, Scott Mazurkewich, Gisela Brändén, Merima Hasani, and Johan Larsbrink (2022) Structural diversity and substrate preferences of three tannase enzymes encoded by the anaerobic bacterium *Clostridium butyricum*, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 298(4), 1-14. DOI:10.1016/j.jbc.2022.101758

Contribution summary

- I. First author. I planned the majority of the experiments. I performed the experimental work together with my co-authors. I analyzed the data, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.
- II. First author. I planned the majority of the experiments. I performed the experimental work together with my co-authors. I analyzed the data, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.
- III. Second author. I planned and performed the recombinant protein production and purification and characterized enzymes using pNP-assays and ran the HPAEC-PAD together with co-workers, interpreted the data and contributed to writing the manuscript.
- IV. First author. I conceived the idea. I planned the majority of the experiments. I performed the experimental work together with my co-authors. I analyzed the data, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.

Oral and poster presentations of this thesis work

- Poster presentation "*Clostridium butyricum* encodes three functionally and structurally diverse tannase enzymes active on water-soluble oak bark extractives" at the European Molecular Biology Organization in Denmark 2021: Enzymes of the future meeting (Lyngby, Denmark, Dec 2021)
- Pecha Kucha presentation at Ekmandagarna (Stockholm, Sweden, Feb 2022)
- Oral and poster presentation "Characterization of three tannases from *Clostridium butyricum* active on oak bark extract" at the Symposium on Biomaterials, Fuels and Chemicals (New Orleans, USA, Apr 2022)
- Poster presentation "Deciphering key stages, compounds, and microorganisms during microbial degradation of spruce bark" at the Carbohydrate Bioengineering Meeting 14 (Ås, Norway, Oct 2022)
- Oral and poster presentation "Filamentous fungi display different behavior during spruce bark degradation" at the Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes for Glycan Conversions Gordon Research Seminar (GRS), and poster presentation at the associated Gordon Research Conference (GRC; Andover, USA, Jun 2023)

Table of contents

Prefa	ce		III	
Abstr	act		V	
List o	f public	cations	VI	
Contr	ibution	summary	VII	
Oral a	and post	ter presentations of this thesis work	VIII	
Table	of cont	ents	IX	
Abbre	eviation	s	XI	
1.	Introduction			
	1.1	Bark is an abundant and underutilized resource	1	
	1.2	The importance of bark	1	
	1.3	Antimicrobial bark components	2	
	1.4	Microorganisms associated with bark	2	
	1.5	Aim of the thesis	3	
	Main	Main points		
2.	Bark composition		7	
	2.1	Extractives act as decay-delaying agents	8	
	2.2	Hydrophilic extractives: tannins	8	
	2.3	Hydrophobic extractives: resin acids, fats, and suberin	8	
	2.4	Extraction and analysis of bark extractives	10	
	2.5	Bark polysaccharides	13	
	2.6	Cellulose: the primary polysaccharide in spruce bark	13	
	2.7	Hemicelluloses are composed of a wide range of polysaccharides	14	
	2.8	Starch is a storage polysaccharide in bark	15	
	2.9	Pectins are charged polysaccharides	15	
	2.10	Polysaccharide analysis	17	
	2.11	Lignin and ash in bark	19	
	2.12	Analysis of lignin and ash in bark	20	
	Main points			
3.	Micro	bial growth on bark	21	
	3.1	The microbial community of bark	22	
	3.2	Rapid resin acid-degradation by a microbial community	23	

	3.3	Isolation and characterization of a new bacterial species	25	
	3.4 isolat	3.4 <i>Pseudomonas abieticivorans</i> sp. nov — a resin acid-degrading bacterium isolated from spruce bark		
	3.5	Bacterial degradation of resin acids	29	
	3.6	Fungal degradation of lignocellulose and extractives	30	
	3.7	The role of fungi in bark degradation	32	
	3.8 cana	Scavenging xylan oligosaccharides enables growth of <i>Wickerhamon densis</i>	<i>nyces</i> 35	
	Main	1 points	37	
4.	Biocl	Biochemical degradation of bark		
	4.1	Bark-degrading enzymes are highly diverse	40	
4. 5. 6. 7. 8.	4.2	Carbohydrate-active enzymes can be co-localized in the genome	40	
	4.3	Discovery of bark-enzymes using proteomics	44	
	4.4	Linking growth to genome supports xylanase identification	46	
	4.5	Extractive-degrading enzymes are highly diverse	48	
	4.6	Tannases target ester linkages in hydrolysable tannins	49	
	Main	Main points		
5.	Conc	clusions	52	
6.	Futu	Future perspectives and outlook		
	6.1	Are we barking up the wrong tree?	57	
	6.2	Branching out into future research	58	
7.	Ackn	nowledgements	61	
8.	Refe	References		

Abbreviations

16S ribosomal RNA	16S rRNA
Acid insoluble residue	AIR
Acid-soluble lignin	ASL
Arabinose	Ara
Arabinoxylan	AX
Auxiliary activities	AA
Average nucleotide identity	ANI
Carbohydrate binding module	CBM
Carbohydrate esterase	CE
Carbohydrate-active enzyme	CAZyme
Carbohydrate-Active enZYmes Database	CAZy
Collision cross section	CSS
Degree of polymerization	DP
Domain of unknown function	DUF
Galactoglucomannan	GGM
Galactose	Gal
Galacturonic acid	GalA
Gas chromatography	GC
β-Glucogallin	GG
Glucose	Glc
Glucuronoarabinoxylan	GAX
Glucuronoxylan	GX
Glycoside hydrolase	GH
Hexyl gallate	HX
High-performance anion exchange chromatography with pulsed	
amperometric detection	HPAEC-PAD
High-performance inquid chromatography coupled to photodiode array	HPLC-PDA
Internal transarily and another	HG
Internal transcribed spacer	
Manage	LPMO
Mannose	Man
Mass spectrometry	MS
Metagenome-assembled genome	MAG
Niterry gallate	MG
<i>p</i> -Nitrophenyl acetate	pNP-Ac
Dromyl collete	
Propyl gallate	PG
Polysaccharide lyase	PL

Polysaccharide Utilization Locus	PUL
Pyrolysis gas chromatography high-resolution mass spectrometry	py–GC–HR- MS
Rhamnogalacturonan I and II	RG-I and RG-II
Rhamnose	Rha
Sigma 70 factor subunit of the DNA polymerase	rpoD
National Center for Biotechnology Information	NCBI
Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy	NMR
Two-dimensional nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry Xylooligosaccharide Xylogalacturonan Xyloglucan Xylose	2D-NMR UHPLC- MS/MS XO XG XyG XyG
11,1000	7 x y1

1. Introduction

B ark functions as a protective skin for trees, safeguarding them against external threats. Trees have evolved a diverse arsenal of defensive compounds aimed at counteracting decay; these are found in higher concentrations in the bark. Nevertheless, despite the accumulation of these compounds, microorganisms are still capable of colonizing and growing on trees. The main objective of this thesis was to identify microorganisms and enzymes responsible for breaking down the components found in bark, and to subsequently employ these enzymes for the degradation of bark constituents.

1.1 Bark is an abundant and underutilized resource

While only present on the outside, bark still comprises a significant (10-15%) portion of a tree's total volume at harvest (1). According to the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization report from 2020, global consumption of round wood reached 3.91 billion m³, resulting in an estimated 191.5 million tons of bark generated annually by the forest industry (2). Despite these high production amounts, bark is a side stream and its primary use is in heat generation through combustion (direct burning) within the timber and paper industry, along with some usage in horticulture (3). Traditionally, the bark of trees has been considered an unusable waste product with little value due to its high moisture content and heterogeneous composition.

1.2 The importance of bark

Some trees can live for thousands of years, and need protection against changes in temperature or humidity, mechanical damage, and microorganisms. However, because trees cannot physically flee from danger, they must rely on other means of protection including the shielding mechanisms provided by bark. Certain tree species, such as eucalyptus even shed their bark, as a means of removing moss and other epiphytes or parasites that may adhere to it (4). Disruption of bark by bark beetles or animals can have dire consequences for the tree, as bark covers the phloem, which is the primary source of nutrient transport in plants (5).

Bark is composed of a wide range of molecules, making it highly structurally diverse. In addition to cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin, which are the main components of wood, bark typically contains an abundance of extractives, which act as antioxidants, antimicrobials, insecticides, and water-repelling waxes (1). They combine to form a highly recalcitrant hierarchical structure, which is resistant to biological degradation. The extractives in bark are defined as compounds that can be extracted through treatments with non-polar and polar solvents, hence the name. The total content of extractives varies across tree species, but may amount to 20%–40% of the bark dry weight (1).

1.3 Antimicrobial bark components

Bark is a source of many natural products, such as tannins, resin acids, and other polyphenolic compounds, which are found among extractives. These compounds possess a variety of beneficial properties, including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and antimicrobial activities (3). Bark has been used in medicine for centuries: salicylic acid or aspirin comes from the willow tree bark, and Taxol, a compound that has been used to treat breast and ovarian cancer is obtained from Pacific yew tree bark (6).

Tannins extracted from bark have been used for centuries in the leather industry in the tanning process, whereby they bind to the proteins in the hide to make them more durable and water-resistant (7). As a result of binding to and precipitating microbial proteins, tannins protect plants from microbial pathogens. Compounds from bark can also be toxic. Resin acids give rise to allergic reactions following skin contact which may occur if they are used as printing ink on textiles (8). They are considered highly toxic to aquatic organisms, bioaccumulates and results in long-term toxicity, with lethal concentrations of around a few milligrams per liter (8, 9).

Despite its primary function in protecting trees against microbial attack and the presence of extractive compounds, bark nevertheless undergoes degradation in nature. To fully utilize the potential of bark and its components through biochemical means, it is essential to understand the overall biological degradation process.

1.4 Microorganisms associated with bark

Bark houses a diverse community of bacteria, fungi, and other organisms on its surface, and these microorganisms play important ecological roles, such as breaking down organic matter, facilitating nutrient cycling, and contributing to the decomposition of dead wood. Traditionally the study of microorganisms has been limited to those that can be grown as isolated species, even though in nature no microorganism grows in isolation (10).

Despite the antimicrobial properties of bark, it is gradually broken down by microorganisms in environmental communities, or by microbiota residing in the gut of insects such as the bark beetle (11). Curiously, the genome of the European spruce bark beetle has revealed many genes associated with polysaccharide degradation, but no genes associated with xenobiotic metabolism, which would enable degradation of extractives (11). This may seem paradoxical but could be due to symbiosis with the insect's gut microbiome and their ability to detoxify the bark's chemical defenses. Alternatively, the beetle could simply avoid the bark and only bore through it to focus on wood degradation. As evidenced by the bark beetle, many of the microorganisms found in microbial communities often have specific metabolic requirements or depend on the presence of other microbial species.

Isolation of individual species or enrichments of co-cultures of two or more species are an important and widely applied method for characterizing novel bacteria and fungi found in association with trees (12). These utilize a plethora of enzymes to degrade and/or transform the complex structures of the many different polymers and extractive compounds present in bark. To break down polymers common to both wood and bark microorganisms have been found to possess specialized enzymes termed carbohydrate-active enzymes (CAZymes) (13). Instead, there is limited knowledge regarding enzymes targeting of bark-enriched components, with certain lipases, tannases, and cutinases having been shown to degrade individual extractive components (14).

1.5 Aim of the thesis

The overall aim of the thesis was to study <u>which microorganisms deconstruct bark</u>, and the enzymes they can employ. This approach aimed to provide a holistic understanding of how bark was metabolized in nature (Fig. 1.1). As the composition of bark varies vastly between different tree species, in my thesis I have focused on industrially important spruce bark, tannins extracted from oak bark, as well as pure polysaccharides and model substrates for enzymatic investigations. To this end, the following overarching research question was formulated:

How is bark degraded by microorganisms?

To answer this rather broad question, I have used a combination of different techniques and divided the overall research question into more specific sub-questions:

Which species can grow on bark?

Given the limited understanding of bark degradation, my first step was to identify which microorganisms grew on bark either as isolated species or within a microbial community. I studied the development of the microbial community over time and isolated different species on resin acids, with the primary goal of finding microorganisms that could grow on them as a sole carbon source. I have also studied how individual fungal species degraded bark, focusing on five taxonomically different species. Filamentous fungi can be frequently found growing on the outside of fallen trees, suggesting that they play a part in the bark decomposition process.

At present, it is not known how microbial communities or individual species degrade bark, i.e., whether they simply ignore the presence of extractives or degrade/modify them, and how they break drown polysaccharides in the presence of extractives. Therefore, the following research question was formulated:

What are the compositional changes during microbial bark degradation?

As the antimicrobial properties of bark are attributed to extractives, we sought to identify the effect of microorganisms on these compounds, in addition to the wood polymers. Microorganisms involved in bark degradation at different stages were identified by linking changes in bark composition and microbial community abundance.

From the previous research on microbial communities, the role of fungi during bark degradation was unclear since the community was dominated by bacteria. In our next study we monitored the degradation process for individual fungal species to compare their substrate preferences on bark, focusing primarily on polysaccharides and extractives.

During growth of microorganism, bark undergoes changes driven by enzymatic activity, including polysaccharide and extractive degradation. Therefore, the following research question was formulated:

How can individual enzymes be used to degrade bark components?

To gain a better understanding of how microorganisms degrade bark components, I focused on enzymes that had received limited attention thus far. Specifically, I worked with yeast enzymes belonging to uncharacterized xylanase subfamilies, as well as tannases. The enzymes were purified, and their activity was characterized on pure substrates.

Although yeasts are ubiquitous across various habitats, their role in the breakdown and metabolism of xylan, as well as their potential contributions to its natural turnover, remain poorly understood. The CAZymes of these organisms have remained unexplored in comparison to those of bacteria and filamentous fungi. Therefore, three taxonomically different yeast species were grown on xylan, and their putative xylanases were expressed, purified, and characterized. This effort aimed to enhance our understanding of the enzymatic strategies employed by these yeasts to break down xylan.

Whereas xylanases act on polymers which are shared by both xylem and bark, extractives occur at significantly higher concentrations in bark. As a result, my next research effort focused on identifying enzymes capable of targeting tannins. One such class of enzyme is represented by tannases, which act specifically on ester-linked galloyl units found in hydrolysable tannins. Although only a limited number of tannases have been characterized so far, *Clostridium butyricum*, encodes multiple tannases, prompting an investigation into the reasons behind this multiplicity.

Chapter 1



Figure 1.1. Overview of the four different research topics investigated in this thesis. The four different aspects of bark degradation investigated in this thesis, from the left: mixed microbial communities, single fungal species growing on bark, single yeast species growing on polysaccharides, and biochemical characterization of pure enzymes. Created in Biorender.com.

Main points

- Bark should not be regarded as a waste resource.
- Extractives are a major part of bark.
- Microorganisms act together to degrade lignocellulose.
- Enzymes catalyze the degradation of compounds found in bark.

2. Bark composition

To defend the tree from microbial and environmental threats, bark has evolved into a complex structure. It comprises an inner living layer of secondary phloem, known as the inner bark (1), whose cells enable the transport of photosynthesis products throughout the tree (15). In addition, the inner bark plays a crucial role in wound healing and serves as a storage site for carbohydrates, water, and secondary metabolites (16). The outer part of the tree is the outer bark, which consists primarily of dead or non-active tissue and provides stability to the stem and protection to the tree (17).

Bark has a complex hierarchical structure with a different composition compared to wood (xylem). Many of the polymers present in the xylem, such as cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin (18) are also present in bark but their proportions differ: bark contains less cellulose and hemicelluloses, but more lignin (Fig. 2.1) (19). The main difference between bark and xylem, however, is the significantly higher proportion of extractives in bark (20), which as previously mentioned contribute to its defensive properties.

The composition of bark also depends upon the tree species; certain extractive compounds tend to dominate in certain types of bark. For instance, birch bark is rich in betulin, while oak bark is rich in tannins, and spruce bark contains significant amounts of resin acids (21). These compounds contribute to the unique properties and functions of bark in each species. Even the structure of bark has different morphologies depending on its source; cork oak bark has a thick, spongy, and insulating layer of cork that covers the tree's trunk. Instead, in birch or spruce, bark remains more intact, forming a cohesive outer layer (4).



Figure 2.1. Overview of the structure of the tree stem. The tree encompasses inner and outer bark, while the rest of the stem is categorized as wood (xylem). The pie chart on the right illustrates the composition of bark. Modified from Paper I. Credit to Dr Johan Larsbrink for the illustration of the stem.

2.1 Extractives act as decay-delaying agents

Extractives from softwood and hardwood differ greatly from each other and are enriched with different types of compounds. The choice of solvent determines the type of molecule that can be extracted from bark. Broadly speaking, extractives are categorized into hydrophilic or hydrophobic, depending on whether they are extracted with hexane or water, respectively (Fig. 2.2) (22).

Extractives play a very important role in the resilience of wood to degradation. Their removal makes wood more susceptible to decay, whereas adding extractives from a durable species enhances the durability of more degradation-susceptible wood (23-25). Bioassays have demonstrated that the antifungal properties of extractives play a pivotal role in the resistance of hardwood to decay (26-28). Notably, resin acids have been found to inhibit cellulose hydrolysis (29). In my work, I have focused on spruce bark extractives, as well as tannins from oak bark.

2.2 Hydrophilic extractives: tannins

Hydrophilic extractive compounds include various components, among them polyphenols. Polyphenols, encompass flavonoids, phenolic acids, and tannins. Tannins are a major component of bark in many species and encompass a large group of compounds (Fig. 2.2). Oak bark, which has long been recognized as a rich source of tannins, has extensively been used in leather tanning processes (30). In plants, the decay delaying properties of tannins have been attributed to binding and precipitation of proteins (31). Based on their structure tannins are classified into four subgroups; gallotannins, ellagitannins, condensed tannins, and complex tannins (Fig. 2.2) (32). Hydrolysable tannins, which can be degraded by tannases, include gallotannins and ellagitannins, and are composed of a galloyl and/or ellagoyl moiety linked to a glucose unit. Condensed tannins have carbon-carbon bonds between catechin units; whereas complex tannins have galloyl moieties ester linked to a catechin unit.

2.3 Hydrophobic extractives: resin acids, fats, and suberin

Hydrophobic spruce bark extractives comprise mainly resin acids, fats, waxes, and suberin; each of them plays a distinct role and exhibits specific chemical properties. Resin acids are diterpenoid compounds found in conifer resin and at elevated concentrations in bark (1). They are released from the wood during the pulping process and have historically been found in high concentrations in pulp and paper mill effluents (33). Due to their poor water solubility, resin acids tend to accumulate in sediments (8), posing a significant threat to fish and crustaceans, for whom they are highly toxic (9). The long-lasting toxicity of resin acids derives from their bioaccumulation (34). Moreover, their hydrophobic nature allows them to cross cell membranes, further contributing to their toxic effects and antimicrobial activity (9). The most abundant resin acid in spruce bark is dehydroabietic acid (Fig. 2.2) (35). Other extractives found in spruce bark extractives include terpenes known as sterols, of 8

which β -sitosterol is the primary sterol in softwoods. When sterols are ester linked with a fatty acid, they are called steryl esters.

Fats and waxes are nontoxic metabolites found in bark: fats are esters of glycerol and fatty acids of various lengths, whereas waxes consist of long fatty acids ester linked to alcohols (1). These compounds, including triglycerides, free fatty acids, diacylglycerides, and monoacylglycerides, are extracted from bark using organic solvents. The carbon chain lengths of fatty acids in bark range from 16 to 22, although longer chains have also been reported (17).

Suberin is a constituent of the outer bark and is particularly abundant in cork. It is composed of waxes and phenols, forming a polyester structure consisting of fatty acids and hydroxy fatty acids (36). The composition of suberin varies depending on tree species (17).



Figure 2.2. Extractive subgroups and representative structures. Hydrophilic (blue drop) to hydrophobic (brown drop) compounds found in bark. Oak bark extractives are composed of all the represented hydrophilic compounds, but predominantly gallotannins (tannic acid if R = gallate) and ellagitannins. Spruce bark extractives are mainly composed of hydrophobic compounds (in steryl ester, R2 = fatty acid). Modified from Papers I & IV.

2.4 Extraction and analysis of bark extractives

The first step in the analysis of extractives involves separating these molecules from bark. This is done using a Soxhlet extractor, an apparatus designed for the continuous extraction of analytes from a solid into a solvent (Table 2.1) (37). The process starts by heating a distillation flask containing the solvent of choice, holding a chamber with the solid material to be extracted (bark) at the bottom of the distillation arm. The heat causes vapors to rise, which then condense back into the flask through a water-cooled condenser dripping back into the chamber with bark. When the liquid in the extraction chamber reaches the top of a bent tube (siphon), the extract-enriched solvent is siphoned back into the flask. High extraction yields (often more than 15) are achieved through multiple extraction cycles (38). In my work, I used acetone as the extraction solvent because of its ability to extract a wide range of molecules, as outlined in Papers I & II. It is also possible to perform sequential extractions by varying the solvent's hydrophobicity to target specific types of compounds. As this is laborious to do via Soxhlet extraction, accelerated solvent extraction offers a highly automated extraction technique, whereby solvents are applied at high temperatures under pressure. The elevated temperature accelerates extraction kinetics, while the elevated pressure prevents boiling at temperatures above the normal boiling point of the solvent. In contrast to Soxhlet extraction, this approach offers a quicker and more effective extraction process but requires access to specialized instrumentation.

In my investigation of tannin hydrolysis, I made a surprising observation: certain extractives from bark could be obtained without using either high temperatures or the laborious Soxhlet extraction. Initial trials on tannase hydrolysis using milled oak bark as a substrate led to gallic acid release. This was in stark contrast to later experiments with water-washed oak bark, which did not result in gallic acid release after tannase treatment. Taken together, these findings indicated that water-soluble tannins were removed during the washing process, prompting me to use mild water extraction to generate tannin substrates in **Paper IV**.

Given the diverse nature of extractives, a wide range of techniques is required for their identification and quantification. In my research, I combined gas chromatography (GC) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) to quantify and identify lipophilic extractives from spruce bark, as well as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to identify tannins from oak bark extract (Table 2.1). GC enables detailed characterization, particularly for volatile and low-molecular-weight compounds. The specific method used for identification and quantification varies depending on the type of extractive.

Quantification and identification of lipophilic extractives using GC can be performed with short or long columns. Short GC capillary columns have allowed for the quantification of high-molecular-weight triglycerides, although this method does not offer the highest resolution (39). Originally developed in the 1990s for monitoring wood extractives in papermaking processes, this method involves the rapid determination of extractive classes;

fatty acids, resin acids, sterols, steryl esters, and triglycerides (37). The quantification of these classes of extractives is achieved by adding four internal standards (heneicosanoic acid, betulinol, cholesteryl heptadecanoate, and dipalmitoyl oleyl glycerol) to the sample. This approach provides a general analysis, which was particularly valuable in **Paper I**, where the aim was to assess the overall impact of microbial treatment on bark extractives without any specific target compounds in mind. For the identification and quantification of individual components, longer columns with thicker films are employed. GC can be coupled to mass spectrometry (MS) or a flame ionization detector (FID); GC-MS is valuable for qualitative characterization; whereas FID is more suitable for compound quantification. Nevertheless, both identification and quantification can be achieved via GC-MS analysis. In such cases, validation is typically performed using the NIST MS search program and the NIST/EPA/NIH Mass spectral database 2011 (NIST 11), as well as available standards. In **Paper I**, GC-MS was used for compound identification, while GC-FID was used for quantification. In **Paper II**, both identification and quantification were achieved by GC-MS with standards.

NMR spectroscopy is the gold standard for the identification of molecules (40). However, NMR requires a relatively large sample size, and in the case of solution-state NMR, the sample must be well-dissolved. In **Paper I**, we used 2D-NMR to identify and analyze the spectra of dehydroabietic acid, the main extractive found in spruce bark. Furthermore, we used it to identify a ferulic ester compound, possibly originating from suberin.

Quantification and identification of gallic acid is facilitated by the presence of the aromatic ring, which enables detection by ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy. Hence, I employed HPLC coupled to a photodiode array (HPLC-PDA) instead of GC to monitor tannin degradation by tannases. Identification of compounds in complex matrices such as tannins from oak bark, is greatly facilitated by using ultra high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry UHPLC-(MS/MS) and collision cross section (CSS) (41). To aid in compound identification, in addition to using available standards, I created a custom library based on previously reported tannin molecules from oak bark extractives. There is no consensus on what constitutes a valid metabolite identification, but this allowed me to putatively identify tannin molecules by comparing their spectral similarity with the library even in the absence of available standards (40).

 Table 2.1. Overview of the methods used in this thesis for quantification and identification

 of bark extractives.
 Created using BioRender.

Extractive type	Ana	lytical method	Structural information	Paper
Total extractives		Soxhlet	 Gravimetric analysis Hydrophobicity 	Paper I & II
Hydrophobic extractives		GC-MS/FID	 Identification and quantification of hydrophobic extractives Quantification of extractive groups using a short column method 	Paper I & II
Hydrophobic extractives		2D-NMR	 Structural elucidation of target lipophilic extractives 	Paper I
Tannins		HPLC-PDA	• Quantification of gallic acid	Paper IV
Tannins		UPLC-MS/MS -CSS	 Identification of tannins 	Paper IV

2.5 Bark polysaccharides

Polysaccharides are complex polymers consisting of monosaccharides linked by covalent glycosidic bonds, which connect the anomeric carbon in carbohydrates to other compounds. These linkages give rise to a diverse array of structures, ranging from simple oligosaccharides to highly complex and branched chains, extending to millions of monosaccharide units. Matrices composed of different polysaccharides (and lignin) linkages and building blocks make up the cell wall, which provides both a mechanical and chemical protection against degradation and impedes the breakdown of lignocellulose.

The diverse array of plant polysaccharides provide essential functions in plant growth, energy storage, as well as structural integrity of plant cells and tissues (42). On the one hand, structural polysaccharides such as cellulose are incorporated into the cell walls, which represent the main load-bearing structures in plants. On the other hand, storage polysaccharides serve as reserves of energy and building blocks within plant cells (42). These polysaccharides can be stored inside the cell (e.g., starch) or in the cell wall (43). In fungi, glycogen serves as a storage form of glucose; whereas chitin is an essential constituent of fungal cell walls (44).

2.6 Cellulose: the primary polysaccharide in spruce bark

Cellulose, the dominant polysaccharide in bark (constituting approximately 30% of the dry weight), is the most abundant polymer on Earth (45). It is composed solely of β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked glucose (Glc) units that form long straight chains (Fig. 2.3). The number of glucose units in a chain, known as the degree of polymerization (DP), varies depending on the plant species and the extraction method employed. Generally, the DP is lower in bark compared to the xylem (17).

Although cellulose has a relatively simple structure consisting of straight glucan chains, adjacent glucose units from neighboring cellulose polymers interact through hydrogen bonding between their hydroxyl groups and via hydrophobic interactions below and above the pyranose ring planes, resulting in the formation of microfibrils (45). These microfibrils exhibit regions of varying order, accounting for the presence of both crystalline and less ordered regions (46). The crystalline regions pose a challenge for enzymatic degradation. So far, only lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase have been reported capable to degrade these crystalline regions (47).

2.7 Hemicelluloses are composed of a wide range of polysaccharides

Hemicelluloses refer to a diverse group of polysaccharides closely associated with cellulose in plant cell walls. They are usually extracted using alkaline solvents (48). Unlike cellulose, hemicelluloses are composed of many different monosaccharides and exhibit lower chemical and thermal stability (49). These polysaccharides contribute to the overall strength, cross-linking, and hydration of the cell wall (5). While hemicelluloses are primarily heteropolysaccharides, they include some homopolysaccharides (49). An important characteristic of hemicelluloses, such as xylans and mannans, is their ability to form covalent bonds with lignin, also known as lignin-carbohydrate complexes (50, 51). This interaction contributes to the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass, which makes it more resistant to enzymatic degradation. Hemicelluloses can be classified into different subclasses based on the chemical composition of their backbone.

Mannans are the most abundant type of hemicellulose in both spruce wood and bark, constituting approximately 10% of the dry weight in the latter (17). There are two types of mannan in spruce bark: glucomannan (GM) and galactoglucomannan (GGM). In GGM, which is the most abundant of the two in softwood, the backbone consists of stretches of β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-D-mannose (Man) and β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-D-glucose (Glc) units, which can be substituted with α -(1 \rightarrow 6)-linked-galactose (Gal) residues, and acetylated (Fig. 2.3) (52). In contrast, GM does not contain any Gal residues. The solubility of GGM in water and its properties in solution, such as viscosity, are influenced by the level of substitution on the backbone (49). In other plant species, mannans can exist as linear backbones (e.g., ivory nut mannan seeds), or free of galactose decorations (e.g., in certain hardwoods) (49, 53).

Xylans are the second most abundant type of hemicelluloses found in spruce bark, comprising approximately 5% of the dry weight (17). They consist of a backbone composed of β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked-D-xylose (Xyl) residues, which can be *O*-acylated and substituted by α -(1 \rightarrow 2)-linked (methyl)-glucuronic acid, α -(1 \rightarrow 2)-and/or α -(1 \rightarrow 3)-linked arabinosyl (Ara) units, and phenolic compounds (Fig. 2.3) (49). These various decorations give rise to different types of xylans, commonly classified as arabinoxylan (AX), glucuronoxylan (GX), and glucuronoarabinoxylan (GAX). In spruce bark, the predominant type of xylan present is GAX. While most studies of microbial xylan degradation have focused on bacteria and filamentous fungi; in **Paper III**, I characterized xylanases from yeasts using both AX and GX substrates, thereby improving our understanding of their xylan-degrading mechanisms.

Although not commonly associated with spruce bark, xyloglucan (XyG) has been detected in bark through glycome profiling, which is not unexpected given that it is found in the primary cell wall of all terrestrial plants (54). XyG consists of a linear backbone of β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked glucan units, which is decorated with xylosyl units. These xylosyl units can be further substituted with galactosyl, fucosyl, and/or arabionofuranosyl units (52). The specific type and degree of substitution varies depending on the plant species. In the case of spruce bark, fucosylated XyG has been reported (54).

2.8 Starch is a storage polysaccharide in bark

In most plants, carbohydrates are stored as starch; whereas fungi store energy in the form of glycogen. Both starch and fungal glycogen are composed of glucose, with varying branching and supramolecular organization of the glucan chain being predominately α - $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked. Such order results in the formation of helices and a relatively soluble polysaccharide dictated by its DP (55). Starch consists of two main components: amylose and amylopectin which both have a backbone of α - $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -linked Glc units, but the latter contains approximately 5% α - $(1 \rightarrow 6)$ -linked Glc moieties, resulting in branching (Fig. 2.3) (56, 57). Due to their similarities, distinguishing between starch and fungal glycogen can be challenging, as I will discuss in section 2.10.

2.9 Pectins are charged polysaccharides

Pectins encompass a diverse group of large and complex charged polysaccharides that contain a significant amount of galacturonic acid (GalA) and are typically negatively charged (58). They can be classified into several types, including homogalacturonan (HG), xylogalacturonan (XG), and rhamnogalacturonan (RG-I and RG-II) (Fig. 2.3). HG is the simplest and is characterized by a backbone of α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked GalA units that may be acetylated or methylated (59). These linear chains can bind calcium ions, resulting in the formation of a gel-like structure that contributes to cell-cell interactions (49). XG is moderately more complex, featuring β -(1 \rightarrow 3)-xylosyl substitutions. In contrast, RG-II is highly intricate, consisting of multiple side chains composed of at least ten different sugars on the backbone of α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked GalA. RG-I is also complex and has a variable backbone composed of α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked GalA and α -(1 \rightarrow 2)-linked rhamnose (Rha) residues, with side chains mainly constituted of Gal and Ara (59). In spruce, the estimated pectin content is approximately 9.0% in the outer bark and 12.6% in the inner bark (17).



Figure 2.3. Representative structures of common polysaccharides found in spruce bark, with linkages indicated. Monosaccharide symbols follow the Symbol Nomenclature for Glycans (60). Methyl groups and acetyl groups are denoted by "Me" and "Ac", respectively.

2.10 Polysaccharide analysis

Polysaccharides are analyzed by broad spectrum of techniques, from basic assessments of total sugar composition to more sophisticated approaches that investigate glycosidic linkages, substitution patterns, and other structural characteristics (61, 62). For a general understanding of polysaccharide composition, the relative amounts of different monosaccharides are often determined (Table 2.2) (63). Total or partial hydrolysis followed by chromatographic quantification of monosaccharides is one of the most common methods. Enzymes specific for certain types of glycosidic linkages can degrade selected polysaccharides, and the resulting changes/products provide insights into the structural features and properties of the polysaccharide. Ultimately, the choice of analysis method depends on the specific research objectives and the level of detail required to address the scientific questions related to polysaccharide composition, structure, and function. In my research, I studied microbial and enzymatic degradation of individual polysaccharides, more specifically xylan, and the degradation of polysaccharides in more complex bark samples, including those treated with microorganisms. The following techniques allowed me to assess the effect of microbial growth on the bark polysaccharides.

Total sugar composition of bark is most commonly performed using sulfuric acid, which allows the complete hydrolysis of polysaccharides into monosaccharides (64). A disadvantage of using sulfuric acid is the loss of structural information about side group locations or linkages. Samples are completely hydrolyzed using 72% sulfuric acid, and after filtering off any remaining solid residue, the hydrolysate is used to determine total carbohydrate composition. The different monosaccharides in the hydrolysate are quantified using high performance anion exchange chromatography pulsed amperometric detection (HPEAC-PAD). In **Papers I & II**, I used sulfuric acid hydrolysis to assess how microbial degradation influenced the composition of bark. However, one notable limitation of hydrolyzing the entire sample is the inability to determine the specific polymer sources of the resulting monosaccharides. This was particularly evident in **Paper II**, where it would have been valuable to identify the origins of Ara and Gal, but for which we could only assume to derive from pectin and/or xylan and mannan.

Besides monosaccharides, HPAEC-PAD is a crucial method for the detection and quantification of oligosaccharides. In **Paper III**, I employed this technique to quantify and characterize the various hydrolysis products generated when treating GX and AX with xylanases from yeast. This technique proved instrumental in comparing the substrate preferences of different glycoside hydrolases, allowing me to identify and quantify the resulting xylooligosaccharides. One drawback is the need for standards to identify and quantify the peaks observed in the obtained chromatogram.

To simultaneously analyze neutral and acidic sugars, an alternative hydrolysis method called acid methanolysis was employed in **Paper II**. Unlike sulfuric acid hydrolysis, acid methanolysis uses hydrochloric acid and methanol. One advantage of this technique is that it does not hydrolyze cellulose, allowing selective quantification of glucose originating from hemicellulose and pectin (65, 66). Combining acid methanolysis with sulfuric acid hydrolysis enables the quantification of glucose from cellulose. Akin to sulfuric acid hydrolysis, methanolysis does not provide information about the origin of the monosaccharides from either pectin or hemicellulose. Here, samples are hydrolyzed with 2 M hydrochloric acid in anhydrous methanol, degrading the polymers into methyl glycosides. The resulting products are then derivatized using hexamethyldisilazane and trimethylchlorosilane, which results in silylated derivatives. Identification and quantification of monosaccharides are achieved using GC-FID. Due to the silylation process, multiple peaks are observed for each monosaccharide in the obtained chromatogram (65).

Enzymes can be used to selectively degrade polysaccharides and enable their quantification. Owing to their specificity, enzymes such as amylases and amyloglucosidase are capable of degrading starch, allowing for quantification of total starch content (67). In **Paper II**, I used these enzymes to identify and quantify starch, which is relatively abundant in bark, and distinguish it from cellulose and hemicelluloses. However, discriminating between starch and fungal glycogen is less straightforward, as they share similar overall linkages (see section 2.8) (56). Consequently, when fungi grow on bark, it becomes difficult to differentiate between these two components. This limitation emphasizes the need for further investigation and exploration to differentiate starch and fungal glycogen.

Table 2.2. Methods used in this thesis to analyze spruce bark polysaccharides, lignin, and ash. Monosaccharide symbols follow the Symbol Nomenclature for Glycans (60). Created using BioRender.

Polymer	Ar	alytical meth	od	Structural information	Paper
Polysaccharides			HPAEC-PAD	Depolymerisation of cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectin	Paper I & II
H Polysaccharides			GC-FID	 Depolymerisation of hemicelluloses and pectins, not cellulose 	Paper II
Starch/Glycogen	<mark><</mark> ↓ •		HPAEC-PAD	• Depolymerisation of starch/glycogen	Paper II
Xylan			HPAEC-PAD	Oligosaccharide quantification	Paper III
Lignin	H2SO4	7	Gravimetric + UV	 Low selectivity No structural information 	Paper I & II
Ash			Gravimetric	No structural information	Paper I & II

2.11 Lignin and ash in bark

Lignin, an aromatic macromolecule found in plant cell walls, is composed of monolignols linked by radical coupling mechanisms that lead to both ether and C-C bonds (68). The three most abundant monolignols are *p*-coumaroyl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and sinapyl alcohol, and additional monolignols can be present in lower concentrations (5). In softwood lignin, coniferyl alcohol is the dominant species, while *p*-coumaroyl alcohol is present in lower amounts (5). While wood and bark lignin are generally considered to have a similar overall structure, phenolic compounds such as hydroxy stilbene glucosides, are incorporated into the lignin structure of spruce bark, acting as true lignin monomers (69). Lignin analysis is highly complicated, and even more so in bark owing to the presence of tannins, suberin, and stilbene glucosides. These compounds tend to precipitate under acidic conditions (employed during total acid hydrolysis), contributing to the acid-insoluble material interpreted as lignin in bark (54).

When compared to wood, bark contains more minerals, which are referred to as ash. The main mineral found in bark is calcium, which makes up approximately 82%-95% of the mineral content. It is present in the form of calcium oxalate crystals, along with potassium and magnesium (70). The total ash content in bark, can vary between 5%-10% based on dry mass, which is much higher than the corresponding value (1%) in wood (17).

2.12 Analysis of lignin and ash in bark

Accurately quantifying lignin in a complex sample poses inherent difficulties as it relies on total (acid) hydrolysis of the material. This leads to interference from other components when both soluble and insoluble lignin are quantified following hydrolysis. Insoluble lignin, or the acid-insoluble residue (AIR), is gravimetrically quantified after hydrolysis and filtration of the residual solid sample (Table 2.2). Consequently, non-lignin acid-insoluble materials, such as ash, tannins, suberin, or chitin (e.g., from fungi), are also quantified as part of the AIR (54, 70-72). Acid-soluble lignin is measured by a spectrophotometric method using the acid-solubilized liquid fraction. While these techniques offer valuable means of quantifying lignin content and were both used in **Papers I & II**, they do not provide further insights into the specific structural characteristics of lignin. Instead, the structure of lignin can be derived using two-dimensional NMR (2D-NMR), although in-depth description of such analysis is outside the scope of this thesis. Moreover, lignin can be quantified by pyrolysis gas chromatography high-resolution mass spectrometry (py–GC-HR-MS), which has been used successfully to measure lignin during fungal growth, without relying on gravimetric analysis (73, 74).

Similar to the quantification of lignin, the determination of ash content in bark relies on gravimetric analysis and was used in **Papers I & II.** This method involves subjecting the bark sample to oxidation at a temperature of 575°C, resulting in the combustion of organic material and leaving behind the inorganic ash residue (Table 2.2) (75). The accuracy of this method depends on the accurate measurement of the initial sample weight and the resulting ash.

Main points

- Bark is the outer tissue of the tree and has a protective role.
- The composition of bark differs from that of xylem.
- Extractives and lignin are abundant in bark.
- Polysaccharides can be quantified using hydrolysis.
- Quantification of bark lignin is difficult due to extractives.

3. Microbial growth on bark

Indeed, estimates suggest more than 10⁶ individual species-level operational taxonomic units (OTUs) in a single soil type (77). Filamentous fungi, bacteria, and yeasts are key microorganisms of many microbial communities, with distinct substrate preferences, and key features, such as lignocellulose and extractive degradation/detoxification, that enable them to grow on organic matter.

There are two main approaches to studying microorganisms and microbial communities: culture-dependent and culture-independent (Fig. 3.1). The latter, rely on techniques such as amplicon sequencing, which typically targets specific gene regions in the 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) for bacteria or the ITS (Internal Transcribed Spacer) region for fungi (78, 79). As these two genetic markers are conserved and found in most species, they are very useful for identification and can be employed for comparing the relative abundance of different genera. Alternatively, the entire DNA from the sample can be extracted and sequenced, allowing for the assembly (binning) of reads into larger contigs or even complete genomes, in a process referred to as metagenomics. One of the key advantages of metagenomic analysis is the ability to sequence unculturable organisms, which are estimated to make up a large proportion (95%-99%) of species (78). The study of individual microorganisms or culture-based methods involves the isolation and enrichment of microorganisms or ordering them from microbial culture collections. By examining both isolated microorganisms and microbial communities, it is possible to investigate their phenotypic traits, such as morphology and growth. This is achieved through the evaluation of growth, the degradation of target compounds, and/or the analysis of the proteins produced, all of which reveal the functional potential of these species.



Figure 3.1. Overview of the methods used to study microorganisms in this thesis. Studies can either be culture-independent, such as in metagenomics where all DNA is sequenced (right), or culture-dependent, where individual species are isolated and studied (left). Both methods can also be combined to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the microbial community. The overarching goal is to monitor what the microbial community is doing during growth, either through compositional analysis of the carbon source or screening the activity of the enzymes produced.

3.1 The microbial community of bark

A wide variety of microorganisms colonize plants; some of them can be beneficial (mutualistic) while others can be detrimental (pathogenic) or neutral (commensal) (80). Microbial communities on the outside of the tree are composed of lichens, fungi that grow on the tree surface although they can also penetrate the outer bark, and bacteria. Fungi exhibit an extraordinary ability to break down complex polymers (81). Bacteria are ubiquitous and abundant, encompass a vast array of species, and display remarkable versatile metabolic activities (76). Indeed, they were suggested to represent the primary degraders of bark, due to the suitability of this substrate as a nutrient source (82).

Knowledge on bark-residing microorganism is scarce, but microbial community composition is known to differ between bark and wood during degradation (83). Moreover, the specific sampling point on the tree is a major factor (84), and the presence of bark has been found to slow down the degradation of the underlying wood (84). Recently, bark-residing methanotrophic bacteria have gained increasing attention, because they reduce methane emissions from trees, thereby contributing to the mitigation of global warming (85). While fungal communities on bark have received even less attention, they undergo significant changes during degradation (86). Nevertheless, the composition and development of microbial communities during the active decomposition of bark cannot be directly compared to similar studies focusing on wood degradation. This disparity arises
from the abundance of toxic extractive compounds in bark (83, 87), which despite their antimicrobial properties, have been frequently overlooked.

3.2 Rapid resin acid-degradation by a microbial community

Considering the limited understanding of bark microbial degradation and the impact of microbial growth on bark composition, the purpose of **Paper I** was to gain an understanding of this fundamental process. First, we created an inoculum from industrial spruce bark, which was used to inoculate gamma-irradiated sterile bark. Several bark samples were used throughout the study—one sample per replicate and time point—and, hence, an entire plate was required for both sequencing and chemical compositional analyses (and many plates were made).

We concentrated on extractives, as these are the compounds enriched in bark, but also investigated the effects on polysaccharides and lignin using the methods outlined in chapter 2. In **Paper I**, we observed a significant drop in resin acid concentration, especially during the initial growth phase, with minimal differences in other bark components (polymers) (Fig. 3.2). Among resin acids only 7-oxodehydroabietic acid remained relatively stable throughout the cultivation period, suggesting ongoing resin acid degradation as this compound is a known degradation intermediate (88). The slight increase in dehydroabietic acid on week 2 might indicate its release from the bark matrix, suggesting that some resin acids are weakly linked or that abietic acid undergoes microbial transformation into dehydroabietic acid during cultivation (89).

A combination of ITS (see **Paper I**) and 16S rRNA sequencing was used to investigate the bacterial and fungal communities (in this thesis, only the bacterial community data will be presented). The main species of rapid bark colonizers were from Pseudomonadota (formally known as Proteobacteria) and Bacteroidota (Bacteroidetes). While the relative abundance of Pseudomonadota species decreased after the initial colonization, they remained the dominant group. Interestingly, after 8-12 weeks, the relative abundances of species belonging to Bacteroidota and Verrucomicrobiota increased significantly. This shift suggested a potential transition towards carbohydrate utilization, as these phyla include specialists in carbohydrate metabolism.



Figure 3.2. Effect of inoculating bark with a culture containing a mixture of both bacteria and fungi. A) Content of individual resin acids over time; only 7-oxodehydroabietic acid was unaffected by degradation. B) Alpha diversity of the bacterial community. C) Relative abundance of the phyla in the bacterial community over time. Mean values and standard deviations are based upon duplicate biological experiments. Adapted from Paper I.

During growth on bark, the diversity of the bacterial community decreased in the earliest (two week) sample, suggesting enrichment of microorganisms capable of degrading or tolerating resin acids (Fig. 3.2). To gain a more comprehensive understanding of the underlying biological processes, metagenome sequencing was performed on the two-week sample, allowing for the reconstruction of metagenome-assembled genomes (MAGs) (Fig. 3.3). Taxonomic analysis of the metagenomic data confirmed that bacteria were the dominant organisms, accounting for 76% of the contigs, followed by eukaryotes (8%) and unclassified organisms (18%). MAGs were analyzed using BLAST to search for a *dit* gene cluster previously shown to be essential for resin acid degradation, and a varying degree of completeness was seen. Only Pseudomonadota species were found to have *ditA1* homologs, encoding an essential resin acid-degrading protein (Fig. 3.3) (90). MAG 15, which contained all essential genes appeared to be the most prevalent MAG in the culture with a relative abundance of 19.2%. To gain further insight into the resin acid-degrading population present at two weeks, bacterial colonies able to grow on abietic acid were enriched and isolated, as described in section 3.4.



Figure 3.3. Metagenome Assembled Genomes (MAGs) from the two-week spruce bark degradation sample. A) Taxonomic classification is based on the Genome Taxonomy Database, and phyla are indicated by color (91). MAGs are clustered according to proteome-based Genome Blast Distance Phylogeny distance using the TYGS database (92). This type of phylogenetic clustering was used as no 16S rRNA sequence could be extracted from MAG12. The relative abundance of MAGs (determined via CoverM v. 0.6.1.) within the metagenome is shown on the right. Only genes within the *dit* cluster shown to be essential for resin acids degradation are displayed. B) Comparison of fungal, bacterial, and unclassified contig abundance in the sample. Modified from Paper I.

3.3 Isolation and characterization of a new bacterial species

The isolation and characterization of novel bacterial species is fundamental in microbiology. These studies expand our knowledge on microbial diversity, ecological roles, and potential biotechnological applications of newly discovered microbial species. Generally, the initial step involves the enrichment and isolation of a specific bacterial species of interest (Fig. 3.4). To identify the bacterial species, genotypic identification methods, such as sequencing of the 16S rRNA genome region are employed. To this end, it is crucial to obtain a full-length, high-quality sequence and manually inspect the chromatograms (Sanger ab1 files). While the 16S rRNA region is widely used for bacterial identification; it may not always discriminate between different species within a genus because of its relatively slow rate of evolution. Thus, in the case of *Pseudomonas*, multiple housekeeping genes (e.g., gyrA or rpoD) can confirm the identity of the isolate as a new species (93). In the past, species identification relied mainly on biochemical and morphological studies, but nowadays it is based on whole-genome sequencing. A comparison is conducted between the sequenced genome and known type strains, and a cut-off value of 94%~96% average nucleotide identity (ANI) is typically used to determine species differentiation (94).

Once a genome with annotated features is acquired, the next step is to determine the biological functions or activities associated with, for example, the protein-coding regions. This is where errors can occur as many genes are assigned based on homology rather than experimentally validated data. An example of database used to assign functional annotation is Pfam (95), which portrays proteins as hidden Markov models and encompasses a wide array of sequences from diverse microorganisms. Additionally, TIGRFAM offers curated multiple sequence alignments for the classification of protein sequences (96). InterPro along with eggNOG-mapper make up a compilation of protein sequence databases, performing searches and linking matches to hits with other information (e.g., Gene Onthology and EC-numbers) (97, 98). Furthermore, there are also specialized enzyme databases, such as dbCAN, which can be used to annotate CAZymes (99).

Characterization of a newly discovered bacterial species involves a comprehensive analysis of its morphological and phenotypic attributes, which can vary depending on the taxonomic group, and is used to differentiate the new species from closely related ones. Bergey's Manual serves as a valuable resource for obtaining phenotypic data of related species (100). Finally, both sequence data and the new species must be deposited in public databases, such as The National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) and culture collections such as DSMZ, ATCC or GUCC, to ensure accessibility of the new strain. At the same time, a record of novel microbial taxa should be submitted to the International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology.



Figure 3.4. Overview of isolation and characterization of a bacterial species from a microbial community growing on spruce bark. The steps used for the isolation of *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* (described below) are shown on the right. First, the species of interest must be isolated as a pure culture, and the genus is determined by sequencing either the 16S rRNA or housekeeping genes such as *rpoD*. Multiple housekeeping genes can be used to discriminate between different bacterial species using multilocus sequence typing (MLST). If the isolate is suspected to be a new bacterial species, its whole genome is sequenced and compared to previously sequenced isolates using the ANI and GC ratio. A subset of traits is used to discriminate the isolate from known organisms and, finally, the strain is deposited in a culture collection, named according to nomenclature standards, and published in the International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology (IJSEM).

3.4 *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* sp. nov — a resin acid-degrading bacterium isolated from spruce bark

Given that resin acid degradation is a major event during the early stages of spruce bark breakdown (see section 3.2), I set to study resin acid-degrading microorganisms in more detail. Based on the compositional analysis of the two-week microbial community sample, I successfully enriched for bacteria capable of growing on abietic acid as a sole carbon source and isolated a strain initially named Barky PIA16 (**Paper I**) (Fig. 3.5). Based on metagenomic data, I suspected the bacterium to be either a member of *Pseudomonas*, *Burkholderia*, or *Paraburkholderia* as these were abundant at two weeks. To identify the strain, I first amplified the 16S rRNA gene by PCR and conducted a BLAST search of the resulting sequence in the NCBI database, confirming the isolate's classification as a *Pseudomonas*, I instead analyzed the sequence of another housekeeping gene, the sigma 70 factor subunit of DNA polymerase (*rpoD*) (93). The closest match to the *rpoD* sequence

displayed a similarity of 91.96%, which is well below the recommended threshold of 97% for defining new *Pseudomonas* species (93).



Figure 3.5. Growth of *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* **PIA16 on resin acids**. A) Growth on abietic acid. B) Growth on dehydroabietic acid. The intracellular protein concentration was used as a proxy for growth because optical density monitoring was complicated by the insoluble nature of resin acids. Means and standard deviations are based on duplicate biological experiments. Adapted from Paper I.

Based on the low similarity of the *rpoD* sequence (<97%), the whole genome of Barky PIA16 was sequenced and run through the DSMZ Type (Strain) Genome Server (92) to check for similarities with already isolated type strains within the *Pseudomonas* genus. All ANI percentages were below 95% (78), indicating that Barky PIA16 was a new species. Additional comparisons of the 16S rRNA sequences with all NCBI data were conducted. ANI values for the ten most related strains were all much lower than the recommended 95% cut-off, and thus a new species name was proposed: *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* (a.bi.e.ti.ci.vo'rans. N.L. neut. n. acidum abieticum, abietic acid; L. pres. part. vorans, eating; N.L. part. adj. abieticivorans, eating abietic acid).

To check if the isolated *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* PIA16 was indeed present in the bark consortium, MAG genomes (section 3.2) were compared to the *P. abieticivorans* PIA16 genome. The ANI match (>99%) between the isolate and the highly abundant MAG15 (relative abundance of 19.2%) supported it being the same species. This highlights the importance of *P. abieticivorans* in the early bark microbiome, yet how it degrades resin acids remains to be determined.

3.5 Bacterial degradation of resin acids

As mentioned in section 2.3, resin acids are abundant in spruce bark, with the two main types being dehydroabietic acid and abietic acid (35). Microorganisms with the ability to mineralize resin acids have been isolated from various sources, from enriched bioreactors to papermill effluents (34, 101). The majority have been identified as Gram-negative, and only a few as Gram-positive (89, 102). Most of these bacteria can metabolize resin acids, but only a minor amount can transform them (103). Typically, bacteria that have been isolated on abietane-type resin acids cannot grow on pimarane resin acids; whereas those isolated on pimarane resin acids can degrade abietane-type resin acids (89).

The initial steps of dehydroabietic acid and abietic acid metabolism have been proposed based on intermediates from culture media and gene deletions (Fig. 3.6) (89, 103). The first studies employed a bacterium called *Pseudomonas abietaniphila*, which grew on abietic acid, dehydroabietic acid, palustric acid, and 7-oxodehydroabietic acid. Genome analysis revealed the presence of a core and an extended *dit* gene cluster (as briefly touched upon in section 3.3) shown to harbor genes involved in the degradation of abietane diterpenoids (104). Within this cluster, a ring hydroxylating dioxygenase called *dit*A1 was identified, and found responsible for catalyzing the formation of a catecholic intermediate. To investigate its role, *dit*A1 knockout mutants were generated in both *Paraburkholderia xenovorans* (previously *Burkholderia xenovorans*) and *P. abietaniphila*, and the strains were unable to grow on resin acids, instead accumulating 7-oxodehydroabietic acid (104, 105). It was also demonstrated that *dit*A1 required a ketone at position C7, as dehydroabietic acid could not serve as a substrate for the enzyme (88, 104).

The initial steps in resin acid degradation rely on P450 monooxygenases, with two proposed initiation pathways: oxidation of the A ring at position C3 or of the B ring at position C7 (89). Two P450 monooxygenases were identified within the extended *dit* cluster. In the case of *P. abietaniphila*, a *dit*Q knockout (KO) mutant strain grew on all resin acids mentioned above, suggesting the presence of an alternative degradation pathway, possibly involving a second P450 enzyme, which was later identified (106). Notably, the crude lysate enriched in *dit*Q bound to dehydroabietic acid, but not abietic acid, palustric acid, 7-oxodehydroabietic acid or isopimaric acid (106). *P. xenovorans* on the other hand, encodes for two P450 enzymes, *dit*Q and *dit*U, and knockout of *dit*Q resulted in impaired growth on dehydroabietic acid and palustric acid, but had no effect in cells grown on abietic acid or 7-oxodehydroabietic acid (105). The second P450 enzyme, *dit*U, was unable to support growth on abietic acid but could facilitate growth on 7-oxodehydroabietic acid (105).

As mentioned in section 3.2, the genome sequence of PIA16 (and MAG15) revealed an intact *dit* cluster (and extended *dit* cluster) similar to the one found in *P. abietaniphila* (Fig. 3.6), which likely explains its ability to degrade abietane-type resin acids (104). A novel

and interesting phenotype of this organism, however, is its ability to degrade pimarane-type resin acids (see **Paper I**), which warrants further investigation.



Figure 3.6. The identified *dit* cluster in *Pseudomonas abieticivorans* which spans 34.6 kbp and proposed degradation pathway. A) The *dit* cluster in *P. abieticivorans*. GenBank accession numbers are shown below each gene, gene names are reported above, and their functional annotations according to Pfam are color coded. B) Summary of proposed biochemical pathways for aerobic abietane degradation. Dashed lines denote multiple reactions. Credit to Dr Johan Larsbrink for Figure B. Modified from Paper I.

3.6 Fungal degradation of lignocellulose and extractives

Fungi, which encompass both filamentous fungi and yeasts, are among the main biomass degraders in nature. As solid substrates cannot be taken up directly by fungi, they secrete enzymes into the extracellular environment to degrade polymers and then take up smaller oligosaccharides or monosaccharides (44). Traditionally, fungi have been classified based on which mechanisms they use to degrade lignocellulose and the type of rot they exhibit (Fig. 3.7). White-rot fungi from the Basidiomycota phylum, efficiently degrade lignin, either in combination with cellulose or cellulose and hemicellulose (107). Brown-rot fungi, also belonging to the Basidiomycota phylum, selectively depolymerize cellulose and

Chapter 3

hemicellulose while leaving brown lignin relatively intact (107). Soft-rot fungi, found in both the Ascomycota and Basidiomycota phyla, cause a softening and disintegration of the wood structure (12). They target primarily the cellulose and hemicellulose components of lignocellulose, resulting in only limited degradation of lignin (81). Yeasts are unicellular microorganisms found both in the Ascomycota and Basidiomycota phyla (108). Ecological studies of filamentous fungi and yeasts during natural decay of wood show elevated yeast diversity in delignified wood (109). Fungi act as the main lignocellulose-degrading organisms, providing monomeric or oligomeric saccharides that support yeast growth (109).



Figure 3.7. Overview of fungi capable of degrading bark or its components, along with their substrate specificity. The top row shows the general classification of fungi, based either on the type of decay or the type of fungus; the middle row shows the fungal species used in this thesis; and the bottom row lists the proposed substrate preference for each or these species: *Dichomitus squalens, Rhodonia placenta, Trichoderma reesei, Trichoderma sp. B1, Penicillium crustosum, Blastobotrys mokoenaii, Scheffersomyces lignosus,* and *Wickerhamomyces canadensis.*

While fungi are known to degrade wood polymers present in bark, their ability to break down extractives is less clear. Extractive degradation has been studied mainly in the context of pitch control, as these compounds cause pitch deposits during pulp and paper manufacturing (35, 110). This has led to the discovery of the sapstain fungus *Ophiostoma piliferum*, which breaks down the triglycerides in wood and leaves the polysaccharides relatively intact (110). *Phlebiopsis gigantea*, which metabolizes non-toxic triglycerides using lipases (111, 112) is more understood. In many cases, degradation is not limited to extractives but also includes polysaccharides and lignin (113, 114).

Studies on the degradation of more toxic components such as resin acids have been carried out in Scots pine, revealing that the extracellular culture fluid from the brown rot fungus *Rhodonia placenta* (formally: *Postia placenta*) degraded lignans and resin acids (115). The response of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* towards tannin-containing oak acetonic extract revealed upregulation of CytP450 and a glutathione transferase, suggesting their requirement for detoxification (116). Very few studies have focused on the degradation of both extractives and polymers in bark. A proteomic study using 2D gel electrophoresis examined the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus nidulans* growing on cork oak bark (117). Two white-rot fungi, *Phanerochaete velutina* and *Stropharia rugosoannulata*, grown on Scots pine bark were found to degrade hemicelluloses, cellulose, and certain acetone extractives, although the specific compounds were not examined (118).

3.7 The role of fungi in bark degradation

My findings on microbial communities growing on spruce bark (see section 3.2) could not point to a specific role of fungi in the degradation process due to their low abundance within the overall population. Nevertheless, initial experiments in **Paper II** indicated that filamentous fungi grew well on bark. Consequently, as presented in section 3.6, I selected five taxonomically diverse fungi, which exhibited distinct lignocellulose degradation modes. The three fungi from the Ascomycota phylum comprised a fungus isolated from a tree stump in Hälsingland County, Sweden (*Trichoderma* sp. B1), a rapidly growing green contaminant (*Penicillium crustosum*), and *Trichoderma reesei*, a cellulolytic filamentous fungus. White-rot and brown-rot Basidiomycetes were represented by *Dichomitus squalens* and *R. placenta*, respectively. The fungi were cultivated on bark for six months and their growth was evaluated.

Measuring the growth of filamentous fungi presents some challenges owing to their morphology, and it is further complicated by the use of insoluble substance such as bark as a carbon source. Proxy strategies include measuring extracellular protein concentration, ergosterol content, fungal biomass weight, or quantifying mass loss in the material (119). In my case, I opted for the latter (Fig. 3.8), although this approach entailed measuring the combined mass of bark and fungi, and not only fungal growth. The fungi displayed different rates of growth, with *P. crustosum* rapidly colonizing bark without any measurable lagphase, and *D. squalens* showing the highest total mass loss (Fig. 3.8). The fungi exhibited different growth patterns, suggesting different substrate preferences. This prompted me to perform a compositional analysis to determine the substrate preferences of each fungus.

Chapter 3



Figure 3.8. Growth of filamentous fungi during six months (24 weeks) using spruce bark as the sole carbon source. Measurements were based on overall mass loss. No fungus was added to the blank (control) sample. The plates were incubated at 20°C. Values correspond to the mean of duplicate biological experiments. Adapted from Paper II.

Extractives have been associated with the decay-delaying properties of bark. Specifically, I studied the effect of fungal growth on resin acids, sterols, and fatty acids (Fig. 3.9). Unsurprisingly, all fungi could degrade fatty acids (e.g., hexadecenoic acid), but their ability to break down dehydroabietic acid and β -sitosterol varied substantially. In particular, stark difference was found for Ascomycota and Basidiomycota species, with the former having difficulty degrading dehydroabietic acid, whereas Basidiomycetes were able to degrade or modify it. Similarly, β -sitosterol accumulated in cultures of *P. crustosum, D. squalens*, and *Trichoderma* sp. B1, suggesting that they could utilize steryl esters as a source of energy for growth, but had limited ability to further metabolize β -sitosterol. Instead, *T. reesei* exhibited no degradation. Finally, *R. placenta* could degrade/modify β -sitosterol, indicating it could metabolize both sterols and steryl esters. As filamentous fungi are particularly well known for their ability to degrade polysaccharides, this aspect was examined further.

Distinguishing the origin of monosaccharides, whether derived from bark or fungal biomass, and identifying the specific polysaccharides after complete hydrolysis of samples presented significant challenges during polysaccharide analysis. Even though certain monosaccharides, such as Xyl and Rha, are almost exclusively associated with GAX and pectin, respectively, others, such as Ara and Gal, may originate from both hemicellulose and pectin side chains. Moreover, Glc and Man are found in cellulose, starch, glycan, mixed-linked- β -glucan, mannan in the fungal cell wall, and/or GGM. To determine exactly

which polymer components can or cannot be degraded by fungi, it is necessary to ascertain substrate specificities through extraction of the polymers from bark or antibodies. Total hydrolysis of bark, which was employed here, serves as a good initial indicator of how individual monosaccharide abundance changes during fungal growth. Importantly, it can (in some cases) be linked to specific polysaccharides and serve as a basis for future studies.

The largest differences in polysaccharide degradation were found for pectin and GAX (Fig. 3.9). After 12 weeks, the white-rot fungus *D. squalens* achieved significant removal of Xyl (64%) and Rha (66%), indicating efficient degradation of both GAX and pectin. In contrast, the other Basidiomycetes *R. placenta* displayed a clear preference for pectin, as indicated by removal of 47% Rha at week 12, along with simultaneous break down of Xyl, albeit to a lesser extent. A similar trend was observed with *P. crustosum*, which exhibited even greater preference for early-stage pectin degradation, having removed 66% of Rha at week 12, and degrading Xyl continuously until week 24. In comparison, the two *Trichoderma* species showed limited degradation of Rha (~27%; week 12) and a preference for Xyl instead (~60%; week 12). These differences in pectin and GAX, show that the fungi have clear polysaccharide preferences when grown on bark.



Figure 3.9. Impact of the growth of five filamentous fungi on selected extractive compounds in spruce bark. No fungus was added to the blank sample. An increase in the amount of compound is indicated by a positive value, and a decrease by a negative value. Data represent the means from triplicate biological experiments and error bars show the standard error. Modified from Paper II.

Notably, little to no lignin degradation was observed (see **Paper II**), which could be due to many different reasons, the simplest being that the fungi did not degrade lignin. However, the methodology used for measuring Klason lignin is easily disturbed by any other acid-insoluble material. Samples from fungal cultures contain substantial amounts of mycelium, which is largely constituted of acid-resistant chitin (and glucan). To bypass these disturbances, one could remove the fungal biomass before hydrolysis or quantify chitin in the AIR by boiling the sample in concentrated hydrochloric acid for several hours. In both cases, however, quantification would still rely on gravimetric analysis, at which point one may opt to use py-GC-HR-MS (73, 74).

Rather than degrading resin acids and sterols, the Ascomycota species investigated here tend to tolerate these compounds and, akin to *P. gigantea*, they may rely on ABC transporters to maintain their tolerance (111, 112). Successful growth of *D. squalens* on bark seems to be due to its ability to degrade/modify almost all bark components, ranging from extractives to pectin and GAX. Therefore, the proteins produced during growth on bark were investigated, as outlined in section 4.3.

3.8 Scavenging xylan oligosaccharides enables growth of *Wickerhamomyces canadensis*

Next, I investigated the microbial strategies of yeasts for metabolizing pure xylan. Yeasts have pivotal roles in various biological processes such as fermentation, as well as in biotechnological applications (120, 121). Most studies have focused on *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* or lipid-producing species, but recent research has demonstrated that yeasts could also break down complex biomass (122) including xylan (123). Yeasts produce xylanolytic enzymes such as xylanases (122), which can be either secreted, remain in the cell or become attached to the cell surface, thereby providing the yeast with a range of strategies for xylan degradation.

The production and secretion of enzymes is an energetically expensive process for microorganisms, and extracellular enzymes become 'public goods' in the microbiome, thus benefitting organisms other than the producer. Therefore, many microorganisms have evolved sophisticated strategies to limit wasting energy on enzyme secretion, by keeping enzymes within close proximity to the cell. This is the case of cellulosomes, which were first discovered in bacteria (124), and have later also been found in some anaerobic fungi (125). Tethering of enzymes to the cell surface reduces the chances of enzyme loss in the environment and ensures that the products remain close to the cell, thereby minimizing the risk of nutrient theft by opportunistic microorganisms seeking to scavenge released oligosaccharides.

Paper III focuses on three xylan-degrading yeasts: *Blastobotrys* mokoenaii, *Scheffersomyces lignosus*, and *W. canadensis*. Their genomes were mined to

reveal their strategies for xylan degradation. These three yeasts were selected based on a previous publication that screened 40 out of 332 genome-sequenced yeast for growth on xylan (122). The three candidates grew on xylan, were from different parts of the taxonomic tree, and displayed different xylanase CAZyme profiles, as well as predicted subcellular localization.

To determine the subcellular localization of potential xylanases, we measured the xylanase activities in the secretome, intact yeast cells, and lysed cells using the dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) assay and a chromogenic substrate to assay for β -xylosidase activity (Fig. 3.10). Extracellular xylanase activity was observed only for *B. mokoenaii*; whereas xylanolytic activity was associated with the cell surface in *S. lignosus. W. canadensis* cells that had been grown on xylan alone exhibited no xylanase activity, while those incubated with xylan and xylooligosaccharides (XOs) displayed extracellular xylanase activity. All species exhibited β -xylosidase activity.



Figure 3.10. Localization of xylanolytic activity in three yeast species. Yeast subcellular xylanase activity originating from the secretome (Sec), cells (Cell), and intracellular material (Intra) from lysed cell fractions was compared using dinitrosalicylic acid reducing sugar assays in at least triplicate experiments. Values represent the means and error bars denote standard deviations. Adapted from Paper III.

Compared to the other two yeasts, *W. canadensis* grew poorly on xylan, but demonstrated xylanase activity following addition of XOs, indicating that the latter triggered its xylanolytic system (Fig. 3.11). Furthermore, addition of XOs to xylan significantly enhanced the growth rate of *W. canadensis*, surpassing growth observed when using XOs alone or xylan as the sole carbon source. Moreover, the same effect was observed when the two heterologously expressed xylanases, *Bm*Xyn11A and *Wc*Xyn5_49A (further discussed in section 4.4), were added. To test whether the strategy employed by *W. canadensis* to grow on xylan involved scavenging of released XOs, we grew the strain in a co-culture with *B. mokoenaii* and *S. lignosus*. *B. mokoenaii* secretes xylanases while in *S. lignosus*, the activity is cell-associated (Fig. 3.10). In both liquid (see **Paper III**) and agar plates, co-culture with *B. mokoenaii* boosted growth of *W. canadensis*. On plates, a clearing zone 36

derived from xylan hydrolysis by *B. mokoenaii* was observed, followed by growth of *W. canadensis* (Fig. 3.11).



Figure 3.11. *W. canadensis* growth on xylan is boosted by the addition of xylooligosaccharides. A) Growth of the three yeasts on 0.4% beechwood glucuronoxylan agar plates with (+Bm) or without (–Bm) the addition of *B. mokoenaii*. The clearing zones correlate with xylanase-mediated xylooligosaccharide release and enable *W. canadensis* growth (red arrows). B) Yeasts grown in 10 mL Delft minimal medium with 2% beechwood glucuronoxylan or 2% xylose as the sole carbon source in biological triplicates. XOs, xylooligosaccharides C) Growth of *W. canadensis* in 2% beechwood glucuronoxylan supplemented with *Bm*Xyn11A and *Wc*Xyn5_49A at lower (50 mg/g xylan) or higher (250 mg/g xylan) concentrations in biological triplicates. *Bm*, *Blastobotrys mokoenaii; SI, Scheffersomyces lignosus; Wc, Wickerhamomyces canadensis*. Adapted from Paper III.

This finding prompts the exploration of co-culturing species such as *B. mokoenaii-W. canadensis* to obtain valuable insights into whether opportunistic species exhibit a similar behavior when acting upon different types of polysaccharides. This comparative analysis could unveil the broader scope of polysaccharide degradation among yeasts but also other microorganisms.

Main points

- Microorganisms can act together to degrade bark.
- Microorganisms with complex metabolism can be difficult to isolate.
- Bacteria seem to the dominate initial stages of bark degradation.
- Bacteria can degrade resin acids, which has been ascribed to the presence of the *dit*-cluster.
- Fungi can grow on bark and influence both polysaccharides and extractives.
- Xylan-degrading yeasts employ different strategies, including secretion of xylanases or tethering them close to the cell.

4. Biochemical degradation of bark

dvancements in genomics have radically transformed the field of enzyme discovery. With the entire DNA of an organism being easily analyzed, it is now possible to locate the genes expected to encode for proteins of interest. This can be achieved either by searching for genes that are similar to known proteins or by employing computational tools to predict the genes' function. Proteomics reveals a microorganism's complete or partial set of proteins produced under specific conditions and can be used to detect putative new proteins. Once potential proteins have been detected or identified in the genome, they can be expressed in a production host and purified for further characterization. This process may entail screening the enzyme's activity against different substrates, ascertaining its optimal pH and temperature, investigating its mechanism of action, and solving its structure (Fig. 4.1).



Figure 4.1. Overview of methods used to identify enzymes in this thesis. Discovery of enzymes can start with sequencing of a genome or mining an already sequenced organism's genome for interesting features by, for example, sequence comparison to known enzymes, or relating types of CAZymes to the physiology of the organism. Proteomics analysis requires knowledge of an organism's genome sequence, so that peptides can be mapped to an appropriate template. Because the proteome varies depending on the environment, it can yield information about growth on different carbon sources. Once proteins of interest are identified, they can be heterologously expressed and characterized on both model and natural substrates. Created in Biorender.com.

4.1 Bark-degrading enzymes are highly diverse

As has been discussed in chapter 2, bark is a highly complex matrix, containing not only the polymers found in the wood—lignin, hemicellulose, and cellulose—but also a highly diverse range of extractives (1). The heterogenous composition of bark requires an arsenal of different enzymes, capable of targeting wood polymers as well as extractives, to hydrolyze it. Degradation and modification of polysaccharides can be accomplished by CAZymes, which are categorized according to their functions and families based on amino acid sequence similarity in the Carbohydrate-Active enZYmes Database (CAZy) (13). In contrast, extractive-acting enzymes are not found in any consolidated database, although some, such as cutinases (esterases active on suberin) found in carbohydrate esterase family 5, appear in CAZy (36). It is possible to find some extractive-acting enzymes in BRaunschweig ENzyme Database (126), as well as the ESTerases and alpha/beta-Hydrolase Enzymes and Relatives database (127). At present, the best characterized extractive-degrading enzymes are lipases (EC 3.1.1.3) and tannases (EC 3.1.1.20), but probably the complete set of such enzymes encompasses a multitude of functions and families, many hitherto undiscovered (14).

4.2 Carbohydrate-active enzymes can be co-localized in the genome

CAZymes are responsible for assembling, modifying, and degrading carbohydrates and glycoconjugates. Moreover, some CAZy families are involved in the deconstruction of lignin (13, 128). In my work, I have focused on the degradative capacity of CAZymes. As previously mentioned, CAZymes are organized in the CAZy database in the following five enzyme classes and associated modules (13):

- Glycoside Hydrolases (GHs) Break glycosidic bonds by hydrolysis. This thesis will further discuss GHs below.
- GlycosylTransferases Form glycosidic linkages by synthesizing di- and oligo-polysaccharides.
- Polysaccharide Lyases Break glycosidic bonds through elimination reactions in uronic acid-containing polysaccharides, such as pectins.
- Carbohydrate Esterases (CEs) Break ester-linked side groups decorating the polysaccharide backbone and/or side chains.
- Auxiliary Activities (AAs) Redox enzymes, such as Lytic Polysaccharide Mono Oxygenases (LPMOs).
- Carbohydrate Binding Modules Proteins with the ability to bind to carbohydrates, typically linked to other CAZymes.

There are essentially endless structural variations when coupling sugars together, and this is mirrored in the diversity of enzymes cleaving glycosidic bonds (129). The GH class is the most numerous in CAZy, with new families being discovered continuously; just recently GH family 184 was created (13, 130). GHs can cleave both the glycan backbones and side chains, depending on the type. The presence and/or absence of certain GHs in the genome can indicate, which carbon sources the microorganism can or cannot metabolize.

Nonetheless, prediction of substrate preference can be complicated by the polyspecificity of some CAZy families such as GH5, whose members have different or even multiple functions and can cleave a wide range of glycosidic bonds. Substrate predictions for some GH families have been aided by the further division into subfamilies, thereby improving accuracy (13). There are also a few monospecific CAZy families with only one known activity. I have taken advantage of substrate predictions to correlate known CAZymes with glycans during *D. squalens* degradation of bark (**Paper II**), as well as for the identification of putative xylanases in yeast (**Paper III**), and MAGs (**Paper I**) (section 3.3 and Table 4.1). In spite of the division into CAZy subfamilies, certain structural elements are common to multiple types of polysaccharides. For example, arabinosyl side groups are present in both pectin and arabinoxylan, thereby preventing exact substrate prediction.

Table 4.1. Structure of the main polymers found in spruce bark and associated enzymes. Major linkages found in these polymers and the corresponding CAZy families based on **Papers I & II**. GH, glycoside hydrolase; CBM, carbohydrate-binding module; AA, auxiliary activity; CE, carbohydrate esterase; PL, polysaccharide lyase. Symbol nomenclatures were assigned according to the Symbol Nomenclature for Glycans. Polymer abundance in bark is from Fengel *et al.* (1984) (17).



Annotation of a new genome with CAZy families is usually facilitated by the developers of CAZy, who perform semi-automatic curation of the genome. However, since 2012 there is also a web-based server called dbCAN (now updated to dbCAN3) which allows users to analyze their own protein sequences with automated CAZyme annotation (99, 131). In my thesis work, I used dbCAN2 to analyze the putative CAZymes derived from my metagenome-assembled genomes (MAGs), and Pseudomonas isolate. Although many candidates displayed a low potential for carbohydrate utilization, MAG13 stood out. MAG13 was taxonomically classified within the Bacteroidota phylum, a phylum known to excel in biopolymer metabolization (132). In several Bacteroidetes, the genes necessary for the capture and degradation of a polysaccharide co-localize in so-called polysaccharide utilization loci (PULs) (133, 134). Consequently, domains of unknown functions (DUF) found within a putative PUL could represent new hitherto unknown CAZymes acting on the PUL's target glycan. While I did not find any new putative CAZymes in my MAGs, MAG13 contained a putative PUL (#3) targeting starch (Fig. 4.2). This PUL contained common PUL features, such as homologs to SusC and SusD from the archetypal starch utilization system (Sus) of Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron. These form a protein complex where SusD (or SusD-like proteins) binds to carbohydrate fragments, and shuttles them into the SusC-like protein pore, for import into the periplasm (134). Also, a SusE-like protein was identified, putatively providing additional binding capacity on the cell surface. Catalytic domains, which target the glycan of interest are another key part of PULs and in the case of PUL 3 from MAG13 they encompass a putative GH13 α-amylase/pullulanase and GH31 α-glucosidase, for starch hydrolysis.



Figure 4.2. Overview of PUL3, a putative starch degrading PUL identified in MAG13 (Phylum: Bacteroidetes). Symbol nomenclature were assigned according to the Symbol Nomenclature for Glycans. NCBI GenBank accession numbers are annotated at the start and end of the PUL. Adapted from Paper I

4.3 Discovery of bark-enzymes using proteomics

Proteomics enables the identification and study of total proteins in a sample, and it is a valuable tool for enzyme discovery as well as their subcellular localization. Advancements in proteomics have been closely linked to the development of MS tools suitable for analyzing proteins and peptides (135-137), along with effective search databases compiled from a growing number of sequenced genomes. In contrast to the genome, which can be considered as "fixed", the proteome of a microorganism is highly dynamic and can change depending on environmental factors such as nutrient availability, stress, and temperature (138, 139).

Different cultivation set-ups, such as liquid cultures or solid-state cultures, lead different proteins being produced (140). Opposed to liquid cultures, solid-state cultures closely resemble the environment in which microorganisms grow in nature. A problem that can arise from such a set-up is separation of the proteins from the sample, as lignin and possibly extractives may bind to proteins, or alternatively be extracted together with them. Cell lysis can also cause problems when focusing on secreted proteins. I encountered both problems in Paper II, whereby the initial intent was to extract proteins while simultaneously characterizing the bark. However, when precipitating the proteins using trichloroacetic acid and acetone, I ended up with an insoluble pellet that I struggled to re-suspend. It appears that the extended period before attempting resuspension might have caused the pellet to become challenging to dissolve. Without a doubt, the presence of extractives also played a role in the difficulty of dissolving the pellet. An alternative proteomics workflow was devised; it was based on using lower amounts of bark and growing the fungi on agarose plates with a filter to separate them from the secreted proteins (141-143). As fungi rely on protein secretion (section 3.6), we wanted to study the extracellular environment or secretome, without interference from non-secreted proteins. Any contaminating proteins derived from cell lysis could confound the secretome results.

Specifically, I was interested in determining, which proteins were produced by *D. squalens* when growing on bark (discussed in section 3.7). To achieve this goal, I grew the fungus on acetone-extracted bark (washed to remove extractives), untreated bark, glucose, and galactomannan to discriminate changes in the proteome between extractives and carbohydrates. Using *in silico* prediction methods, it is possible to anticipate which proteins may be present in the extracellular matrix. For example, I used a combination of three prediction algorithms to determine the sub-cellular location of *D. squalens* proteins: SignalP, Phobius, and WolfPSort (144-146). Each of these algorithms uses unique methodologies. In Eukaryotes, SignalP identifies the "standard" secretory signal peptides that are transported via the Sec translocon and cleaved by signal peptidase I (145). By combining these tools, one can predict, which proteins are likely to be extracellular. Based on prediction of secretion signals, I filtered these entries to determine a profile closer to the "true" secretome. I encountered significant problems due to cell lysis and only found 17% of annotated extracellular proteins in the exoproteome (*in silico* prediction was 7.5%). I

concluded that there was significant cell lysis during growth on bark. Owing to the high number of intracellular proteins in the secretome, I only analyzed those, which were predicted to be extracellular and did not rely on protein quantification. As I will show below, despite significant sample lysis, one can still learn something from the observed proteome.

Focusing on known CAZymes, I found very little difference between the *D. squalens* proteome in acetone-extracted bark and untreated bark. Most CAZymes were found in the bark sample, indicating that extraction removed some polysaccharides, as previously observed (19). Overall, the CAZyme repertoire in these two samples was similar, and it targeted all known spruce bark polysaccharides. One of the most interesting findings concerned enzymes identified as putatively active on XyG, a polysaccharide not typically associated with spruce bark. In the past, antibodies have been used to identify XyG in spruce bark harvested both in winter and summer (54), further supporting the presence of XyG in this substrate. To gain insight into potential new CAZymes and/or extractive-degrading enzymes, I focused on the proteins exclusive to the two bark samples (Fig. 4.3).

Of particular note was the high number of auxiliary activity domains, especially AA9 proteins (A0A4Q9PQC0, A0A4Q9Q8Z1, A0A4Q9QAL2, A0A4Q9QAL2) (Fig. 4.3). These enzymes are commonly thought to act only cellulose, but some have recently been shown to be active on xylan if cellulose is present (147-150). This indicates that AA9 enzymes may be either directly or indirectly dependent on extractives. One such example is gallic acid, a compound found in tannins, which has been shown to act as a reductant for some LPMOs (151)

A0A4Q9Q&S7DUF1793-domain-containing proteinA0A4Q9PS69Six-hairpin glycosidase-like proteinA0A4Q9PLQ5Six-hairpin glycosidase-like proteinA0A4Q9QAL2AA9Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D)A0A4Q9PTM4AA1LaccaseA0A4Q9PZGH75Six-hairpin glycosidase-like proteinA0A4Q9PZGH79Glyco_hydro_79C domain-containing proteinA0A4Q9PT3GH78Six-hairpin glycosidaseA0A4Q9PT3GH78Six-hairpin glycosidaseA0A4Q9PT3GH43Arabinan endo-1,5-alpha-L-arabinosidaseA0A4Q9PRD7GH31Alpha-glucosidaseA0A4Q9PNM1GH10Beta-xylanaseA0A4Q9PQ87GH31Alpha-glucosidaseA0A4Q9PQ89CBM1+GH3Beta-glucosidaseA0A4Q9PQ87GH31Alpha-glucosidaseA0A4Q9PQ87GH31Alpha-glucosidaseA0A4Q9PNM1GH10Beta-xylanaseA0A4Q9PQ87AA9Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D)A0A4Q9Q821AA9Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D)A0A4Q9NRJ0AA7FAD dependent oxidoreductaseA0A4Q9NRJ0AA7FAD dependent oxidoreductaseA0A4Q9NTH3AA5_1Glycal oxidase N-terminus-domain-containing protein	Accession nr	CAZyme	Protein name	ACB Cart	C/S
	ACCESSION III A0A4Q9Q887 A0A4Q9PS69 A0A4Q9PLQ5 A0A4Q9PLQ5 A0A4Q9PQA12 A0A4Q9PG03 A0A4Q9PG03 A0A4Q9PG03 A0A4Q9PGB7 A0A4Q9PGB7 A0A4Q9PGB7 A0A4Q9PM11 A0A4Q9PM11 A0A4Q9C811 A0A4Q9C821 A0A4Q9PG66 A0A4Q9C66 A0A4Q9C67 A0A4Q9PC0 A0A4Q9PC14 A0A4Q9PTH3 A0A4Q9P514 A0A4Q9P514	AA9 AA1 GH95 GH78 GH78 GH44 GH43 GH31 GH28 GH10 GH10 GH10 GH10 GH6 CBM1+GH3 AA9 AA9+CBM1 AA9 AA7 AA5_1 AA3_2 AA5_1 AA3_2	DUF1793-domain-containing protein Six-hairpin glycosidase-like protein Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D) Laccase Six-hairpin glycosidase-like protein Glyco_hydro_79C domain-containing protein Six-hairpin glycosidase Glycoside hydrolase family 44-domain-containing protein Arabinan endo-1,5-alpha-L-arabinosidase Alpha-glucosidase Pectin Iyase fold/virulence factor Beta-xylanase Beta-xylanase Beta-glucosidase DUF1793-domain-containing protein Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D) Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D) Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D) FAD dependent oxidoreductase Glyoxal oxidase N-terminus-domain-containing protein Endo-beta-1,4-glucanase D (Endoglucanase D)		-

CAZy annotation AA CE GH N/A Identified: Yes No

Figure 4.3. Map displaying the extracellular proteins detected exclusively in the two bark samples, after filtering of intracellular entries. The results are clustered based on identified carbon source, colored blue if found and grey if not identified. On the right, the bar is colored according to CAZy class. AA, Auxiliary activity; GH, Glycoside Hydrolase; CE, Carbohydrate esterase; N/A, No CAZy classification; ACB, Acetone-extracted bark. Modified from Paper II.

When I examined proteins that were not annotated as CAZymes, two domains of unknown function (A0A4Q9Q8S7, A0A4Q9P6Q6) were identified (Fig. 4.4). Gene Ontology revealed that they both belonged to carbohydrate metabolic process proteins and harbored three domains of unknown function (DUF5127, DUF4965, DUF1793) (Pfam: PF17168, PF16335, PF08760). Specifically, the two last domains were part of the superfamily of six-hairpin glycosidases. Comparing the AlphaFold2-generated structure for A0A4Q9Q8S7 against all entries in the Protein Database using Dali, yielded β -xylosidase and glucosyleramidase as the closest entries (152). Further evidence suggests that these two proteins are putative CAZymes. Schmerling et al. (2022) were able to generate a soluble protein with an almost identical domain architecture from *Streptomyces misionensis* (containing an extra DUF4965 domain) (153). Despite its classification as a glutaminase, it displayed no activity on glutamine substrates. Instead, it exhibited low β -galactosidase activity (153). These two domains would be of great interest to produce and characterize against both model and natural substrates, to determine if they are indeed active against polysaccharides in bark or, possibly, fungal glycan.



Figure 4.4. Domain architecture of the two proteins containing domains of unknown function. Adapted from Paper II.

4.4 Linking growth to genome supports xylanase identification

Xylanases, which are numerous and very well-described in bacteria and filamentous fungi, are found in GH families 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 30, 43, 98, and 141 in CAZy (154, 155). Xylanases can either be endo- or exo-acting; while the former bind along the xylan backbone releasing longer xylooligosaccharides (XOs); the latter cleaves the xylan chain from the reducing or non-reducing end, releasing shorter XOs (154). Yeasts can be found in all environments (156); yet, their xylan-degrading capability remains less studied than in the case of filamentous fungi or bacteria.

In our investigation of the xylanolytic strategies employed by yeasts (see section 3.8 and **Paper III**), we studied purified individual putative xylanases produced by *B. mokoenaii*, *S. lignosus*, and *W. canadensis* to explore their different functions. *S. lignosus* encoded a likely xylanase from the monospecific GH family 10 (GH10: *SI*Xyn10A). Instead, *B. mokoenaii* encoded an enzyme from GH11 (*Bm*Xyn11A), which includes both endo-xylanase and β -xylosidase activities (155). Microorganisms capable of thriving on xylan, despite not encoding conventional GH10 or GH11 enzymes, are of strong interest to researchers, because they might employ alternative mechanisms for xylan degradation. *W. canadensis* lacked any apparent xylanases and, instead, encoded four different GH5 enzymes, a family which possesses a variety of different endo-acting activities on β -linked

glycans. The only putative xylanase, based on previously characterized enzymes, was from subfamily GH5_22 (157). Thus, I worked with *Wc*Xyn5_22A, but also *Wc*Xyn5_49A which is from a presently uncharacterized subfamily. To identify the likely candidates responsible for xylan depolymerization, putative xylanases were cloned, expressed, purified, and analyzed biochemically.

The above four enzymes were biochemically characterized on beech glucuronoxylan (GX) and wheat arabinoxylan (WAX). After 24 h on GX (for WAX; see **Paper III**), all enzymes reached maximum hydrolysis (Fig. 4.5). The enzymatic treatments resulted in different XOs profiles, with *Bm*Xyn11A producing mainly smaller oligosaccharides (xylose, xylobiose, xylotriose), while *Sl*Xyn10A yielded longer ones (xylobiose, xylotriose, xylotetraose, xylopentose, xylohexose). The XO distribution between these two enzymes corresponds well with previous studies where GH11 xylanases need three unsubstituted xylose units, while GH10 can accommodate more branched xylans (158, 159). As typical endo-acting enzymes they cleave linkages within the polysaccharide backbone, producing oligosaccharides differing in length (Fig. 4.5). During hydrolysis of GX, *Wc*Xyn5_22A generated minor amounts of XOs; whereas and *Wc*Xyn5_49A generated xylobiose, xylotriose, and xylotetraose. No activity was detected on *p*NP-xylopyranoside, indicating it was an endo-xylanase. This work demonstrates for the first-time xylanase activity in GH family 5_49 and represents, therefore, a unique discovery.



Figure 4.5. Effect of xylanase treatment on beechwood glucuronoxylan. A) Hydrolysis of beechwood glucuronoxylan based on reducing sugar equivalents released over time and B) Xylooligosaccharide formation after 24 h. Xylose (X1), xylobiose (X2), xylotriose (X3), xylotetraose (X4), xylopentose (X5), xylohexose (X6) and an unidentified peak between X3 and X4, named (X3-?). Data are presented as the average of two replicates with error bars denoting the standard error of the mean. Modified from Paper III.

Notably, in CAZy, the GH5_49 subfamily is only present in Saccharomyceta (13), and has been identified in 319 out of the 332 yeast genomes that were the basis for this study (160). This prompts questions regarding the role of GH5_49 enzymes, in combination with other enzymes (e.g., from GH5_22), in xylan degradation by yeast. To study this, yeast GH5_49 enzymes should be studied in greater detail.

4.5 Extractive-degrading enzymes are highly diverse

As described in chapter 2, extractives are a highly diverse class of compounds possessing a variety of linkages, including esters and carbon-carbon bonds. Hence, microorganisms need to deploy an extensive number of enzymes to metabolize them (Fig. 4.6). Furthermore, some extractives are small hydrophobic molecules, and some steps of the degradation process may take place inside the cell wall. Finally, poor solubility in water and/or a large size of certain extractives requires the use of extracellular enzymes (14).

To degrade triglycerides, the white-rot fungus *P. gigantea* produces an extracellular lipase (EC 3.1.1.3), enabling growth on microcrystalline cellulose supplemented with sapwood extract of *Pinus taeda* (111). Steryl esters, which are quite abundant in certain extracts, are hydrolyzed by steryl esterases (EC 3.1.1.13). These enzymes have broad substrate specificity and are capable of hydrolyzing triacylglycerols, *p*-nitrophenyl esters, and steryl esters (161). Suberin is degraded by small serine esterases (20–25 kDa) called cutinase (EC 3.1.1.74). Cutinases are thought to be secreted by plant pathogens to either disrupt the protective layer and allow access to the underlying cells, or to enable the use of released fatty acids as carbon sources (36, 162).

At present, little is known about the degradation of condensed tannins (section 2.2). One theory is that it depends on a cascade of mono- or di-oxygenase enzymes to perform initial oxidation steps followed by hydrolysis (163). The identification of enzymes responsible for degrading condensed tannins requires further research. Hydrolyzable tannins, instead, are cleaved by enzymes called tannin acyl hydrolases, or tannases (164), which I studied in **Paper IV** (Fig. 4.6).



Figure 4.6. Major extractive types. The list ranges from the more hydrophobic triglycerides, steryl esters, suberin, sterols, and resin acids, to hydrophilic extractives, such as hydrolysable and condensed tannins. For each extractive, their protective role in bark and the corresponding enzymes responsible for their hydrolysis are mentioned.

4.6 Tannases target ester linkages in hydrolysable tannins

Tannases (EC 3.1.1.20) target ester and depside linkages in hydrolysable tannins (165). Even though tannases have been identified in numerous organisms, such as bacteria, fungi, yeast, and plants (166-168), only a few fungal tannases have been subjected to biochemical analysis (167). There is somewhat more information available on bacterial tannases, at present, only two microorganisms, namely *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* (formerly: *Lactobacillus plantarum*) and *Streptococcus gallolyticus*, have been reported to have more than one tannase (169-172). The reason behind this multiplicity in encoded tannases remains unclear. Much like extractives in general, hydrolysable tannins are also composed of structurally diverse compounds, so it is likely that different substrate specificities are found within the tannase enzyme family. To determine substrate specificity and screen enzyme activities we employed model substrates that mimicked features of the natural substrate. This approach made it possible to compare enzyme activity with respect to various substitutions (Fig. 4.7) (173).



Figure 4.7. Model substrates used to gain insight into tannase substrate preference. MG, Methyl gallate; PG, Propyl gallate; HG, Hexyl gallate; GG, β -Glucogallin; *p*NP-Ac, *p*-Nitrophenyl acetate. Adapted from Paper IV.

In **Paper IV**, model substrates were used to compare substrate preferences of three tannases from *C. butyricum*. The three enzymes showed marked differences, with *Cb*Tan1 and *Cb*Tan3 displaying a clear preference towards β -glucogallin, while *Cb*Tan2 was much more promiscuous (Table 4.2). The K_m was about 10-fold higher compared to other enzymes, which indicates discrepancy between the tested model substrates and the linkage targeted by the enzyme (172). Still, even if activity is observed on model substrates, it does not necessarily mean that the enzymes can perform the same activity on more complex, natural substrates. As oak bark is known to contain abundant hydrolysable tannins, I tested the ability of *Cb*Tan1, 2, and 3 to degrade this natural mixture of tannins and, therefore, determine if they displayed the same specificity on this more complex substrate. **Table 4.2. Kinetic parameters of** *C. butyricum* **tannases on model substrates**. Tannase activity was measured using the rhodanine assay, while acetyl esterase activity was measured using *p*NP-Ac. The enzymes showed no activity on methyl ferulate (data not shown). The standard deviation was determined from triplicate experiments and calculated using OriginPro software v. 9.6.0.172. Adapted from Paper IV.

Enzyme	Substrate	<i>K_m</i> (mM)	k_{cat}/K_m (s ⁻¹ mM ⁻¹)
CbTan1	MG	10.8 ± 1.18	2.40 ± 0.33
	PG	12.0 ± 1.60	2.60 ± 0.43
	GG	3.50 ± 0.70	72.8 ± 22.2
	HG	Cannot be saturated up to 10 mM	3.60 ± 0.22
	pNP-Ac	Cannot be saturated up to 10 mM	0.07 ± 0.004
CbTan2	MG	23.4 ± 2.68	7.99 ± 1.13
	PG	22.2 ± 2.26	6.17 ± 0.76
	GG	23.0 ± 3.70	10.2 ± 1.80
	HG	Cannot be saturated up to 10 mM	6.40 ± 0.22
	pNP-Ac	Cannot be saturated up to 10 mM	0.03 ± 0.002
CbTan3*	MG	24.3 ± 3.52	1.64 ± 0.09
	PG	7.20 ± 0.90	2.24 ± 0.30
	GG	8.99 ± 1.70	52.9 ± 12.5
	HG	Cannot be saturated up to 10 mM	1.28 ± 0.004
	pNP-Ac	No detectable activity at 10 mM	

*As CbTan3 was not fully pure, the values represent k_{cat}^{obs} and K_m^{obs}

The release of gallic acid can be monitored with several methods. The simplest is a colorimetric assay, in which rhodanine binds to gallate, causing the formation of a pink compound that can be quantified using a spectrophotometer. Alternatively, HPLC-PDA can be used to measure the peak area of gallate. To measure gallate in a complex substrate such as oak bark extract, I used HPLC-PDA, which improved the detection range and minimized interference from any unwanted side reactions involving rhodanine. As observed with the model substrates, all three enzymes released gallate from the oak bark extract, albeit at different rates (Fig. 4.8). To determine if the three enzymes displayed different substrate preferences during oak bark extract hydrolysis, I mixed the enzymes in the same concentration as when used individually (0.12 nM total enzyme). The addition of the three enzymes complement each other and target different types of tannins in the oak bark extract or different moieties present in tannins.



Figure 4.8. Effect of tannase treatment on oak bark water extract. Shown is the released gallic acid in the enzymatically treated oak bark extract over time for each enzyme, compared to a sample containing no enzyme (blank). All reactions contained 0.12 nM total enzyme, for both individual enzymes and when all three were combined. Adapted from Paper IV.

Tannins extracted from bark are highly diverse. Hydrolyzable tannins, more specifically, gallotannins, contain glucose at their center and are attached by ester linkages to gallate (36). The ability of the three enzymes to hydrolyze gallotannins was monitored by measuring the glucose released by the samples after 20 h of enzyme treatment (Fig. 4.9). Reactions with CbTan2, CbTan3, and CbTan1–3 (all three enzymes combined) were able to release glucose from the extract (albeit a very small amount) however, the release was not improved when using CbTan1.

To identify which compounds could be hydrolyzed by tannases, I employed reversedphased liquid chromatography and UHPLC-(MS/MS)-CSS. A compound was putatively identified via a match in a custom library of tannin molecules found in oak bark from the literature (174-178). It must be emphasized that when working with MS/MS, the curation of a detailed and accurate compound library is critical and may be a limiting factor in compound identification. Using this library, we were indeed able to identify differences in the substrate preferences for the CbTan enzymes, with all enzymes able to degrade di- and tri- galloyl glucose (Fig. 4.9). The only observed difference was in the degradation of compounds with identical structure to two of the model substrates, methyl gallate, and galloyl glucose. According to our compound identification, only CbTan2 was able to degrade these two substrates, in contrast to our biochemical data (see above). As such, I could not confirm that CbTan1 and CbTan3 were able to degrade these compounds in the extract. Thus, the increase in glucose from CbTan2 might be derived from galloyl glucose. In contrast, I could not determine the compound from which glucose was released during *Cb*Tan3 incubation. One possible reason for this discrepancy between model and natural substrates could be enzyme inhibition by ellagic acid (or other compounds). Alternatively, the galloyl unit might be positioned on the wrong carbon on the gallate-glucose molecule, preventing both CbTan1 and CbTan3 from degrading it.

	CbTan1	— Ck	oTan2 🗕	CbTan3	— CbTa	123 — Blank					
A ²³ 22]		•T	ر ار	* * **	B	Putative identification	Blank	CbTan1	CbTan2	CbTan3
Ξ.	1			1		•	Methyl gallate	+	+	ND	+
<u>ਤ</u> 20	1 _	1			6	*	Gallic acid*	+	+	+	+
0 19 0		I .					Ellagic acid*	+	+	+	+
318							Galloyl glucose	+	+	ND	+
17	1						Digalloyl glucose	+	ND	ND	ND
10							Trigalloyl glucose	+	ND	ND	ND

Figure 4.9. Effect of tannase treatment on tannin containing oak bark water-extract (20 h incubation). A) Released glucose. The stars indicate p-values: *≤0.01, **≤0.05; as determined by a Student t-test in Python. B) Putative identification of compounds in the oak bark extract using UPLC-MS/MS-CSS. Compounds are annotated as detected (+) or not detected (ND) in triplicate experiments based on molecular mass, CCS, fragmentation, and standards (*). Modified from Paper IV.

Data gathered here suggest that the three *C. butyricum* tannases exhibit unique substrate preferences, both on model and natural substrates. The divergent preferences could potentially result from diverse biological functions within the microorganism, and they might enable *C. butyricum* to thrive in environments rich in a wide range of tannins, such as those found in both soil and the gut.

Main points

- The genome of an organism can be used to discover new enzymes.
- Bacteroidetes metabolize (and sense) complex polysaccharides using polysaccharide utilization loci.
- Proteomics is a powerful tool for enzyme discovery, allowing to see changes in response to environmental perturbations.
- Enzymes acting on bark are highly diverse and probably unknown.
- Tannases are active on hydrolyzable tannins from oak bark and release gallate and glucose during hydrolysis.

5. Conclusions

The work presented in this thesis focuses on bark degradation by microbial communities and individual species, as well as the characterization of pure enzymes that are active on bark components. This chapter discusses how the research questions stated in **chapter 1** have been accomplished.

Which species can grow on bark?

To address this question, growth of a mixed consortium was monitored for up to six months and evaluated using amplicon sequencing, as outlined in **Paper I**. Resin acid-degrading bacteria were enriched throughout this period and after a while the population seemed to shift towards more carbohydrate focused. The dominant bacterium at two weeks, *P. abieticivorans* PIA16, was successfully isolated, sequenced, and phenotypically characterized.

In my opinion, this is a major step forward in the understanding of bark degradation because it investigates the long-term degradation of bark and shows enrichment of resin aciddegrading bacteria during growth. This sets the basis to explore whether the degradation of other types of bark also occurs through the breakdown of extractive molecules that restrict the growth of nearly all organisms except a few, but it also raises new questions. Would another batch of spruce bark enrich for a similar set of genera or microorganisms with comparable phenotypes? I believe that it is highly likely that we would find microorganisms, which perform the same metabolic activity (i.e., degradation of resin acids) as resin acids are an abundant extractive in spruce bark; however, the dominant bacterial species might not necessarily be the same. Hence, in the future, one may isolate more novel species of resin acid bacteria from the yet-little-studied tissue spruce bark.

Notably, the fungal population within the community discovered in **Paper I** only accounted for only a small proportion (1-8%) of the obtained reads/contigs, making it challenging to ascertain the impact of fungi on bark composition. Consequently, we turned our attention to single fungal isolates in **Paper II**. All fungal taxa, from Ascomycota to Basidiomycota, grew on bark albeit at different rates, suggesting diverse strategies for growth which was successfully evaluated in the next sub-question.

What are the compositional changes during microbial bark degradation?

The degradation of bark by a mixed consortium was evaluated using compositional analysis in **Paper I**. Our findings indicated that resin acids underwent early degradation during microbial breakdown of bark, coinciding with a significant loss in diversity of the microbial community. In contrast, during the same time frame there was only minimal impact on polysaccharides. This observation is in stark contrast to the results obtained in **Paper II**, which explored single fungal species growing on bark. Carbohydrate analyses showed significant differences among fungi, particularly with respect to xylan and pectin degradation. Furthermore, fungi displayed different approaches towards extractive compounds, ranging from tolerance to detoxification and/or complete metabolism.

Paper II is a novel and informative study because involves a variety of fungal species cultivated over prolonged periods. Even after six months, the degradation of polysaccharides and/or extractives continues, underscoring the slow nature of bark breakdown. I think this study shows important differences in bark degradation in fungi and together with **Paper I** highlights differences between bacteria and fungi. In my opinion, even when selecting fungi from different taxa, there is an inherent bias towards species that exhibit rapid growth. Consequently, this could result in preference for less specialized microorganisms with more general degradation patterns, compared to more niche yet slow-growing ones. The latter, although challenging to cultivate due to their slow growth, could employ alternative strategies and possess enzymes, which are more relevant for molecules such as extractives.

How can enzymes be used to degrade bark components?

Different enzymes target specific types of molecules. For instance, xylanases target xylan, a type of hemicelluloses in bark; whereas tannases target tannins. Both these types of enzymes have been investigated in **Paper III** and **Paper IV**, respectively.

In **Paper III** we characterized three xylanases from three different yeast strains: *B. mokoenaii*, *S. lignosus*, *W. canadensis*. The most interesting outcome of the study was the inability of *W. canadensis* to utilize xylan as the sole carbon source unless supplemented with xylooligosaccharides or exogenous xylanases (i.e., GH5_22), or co-culturing with *B. mokoenaii*. Apparently, *W. canadensis* depends on neighboring cells for the initial breakdown of xylan to trigger its own xylan-degrading machinery. Notably, we also characterized the first xylanase activity in GH5_49

I think this study raises the question of how widespread and different the strategies of polysaccharide degradations are. Typically, studies are done on single organisms; however, to observe reliance on other producers for initiating xylan degradation, one needs to carry out additional experiments such as co-cultures and/or supplementation with small amounts of oligosaccharides. These results also prompt a re-evaluation of the yeasts that were initially observed to not grow on xylan during the screening experiment. They could be subjected to another round of screening on plates containing both xylan and xylooligosaccharides (122), of particular interest are yeasts that encode GH5_22 and GH5_49 enzymes.

In **Paper IV** we examined the tannases and *C. butyricum*. The underlying reason for multiple tannase-encoding genes being present in *C. butyricum* remains unclear. One possibility is that these genes might help the microorganism in either metabolizing or detoxifying tannins of different types, which we were not able to distinguish in our

experiments. The three tannase enzymes were phylogenetically dissimilar and had somewhat different activity on model substrates. Notably, these enzymes were found to be active in degrading oak bark tannins, which had not been previously demonstrated for tannases.

The question of why microorganisms encode multiple versions of the same type of enzyme remains perplexing. Why not produce one enzyme with a broad substrate specificity? A reasonable assumption is to prepare for different environmental conditions, metabolic pathways, or different substrates. This enzyme redundancy could also provide a degree of flexibility, enabling microorganisms to respond efficiently to different changes in the environment. It also serves as a form of back-up, ensuring that if one form is less effective under certain conditions, another form might still perform the required function. While the above study investigated the specificity of these enzymes, we cannot establish whether they are actually expressed and, if so, whether they are produced under the same conditions. The more fundamental question regarding whether *C. butyricum* can utilize tannins as a carbon source remains unanswered.

How is bark degraded by microorganisms?

In my work I have used different techniques to answer this overarching research question. I have achieved my initial objective of finding microorganisms capable of growing on bark by working with both single species and microbial communities. This also led to the isolation of a new *Pseudomonas* species, capable of degrading resin acids. Additionally, I characterized both xylanases and tannases, which are responsible for degrading the xylan and tannins, respectively. Based on my research, it is evident that there are still numerous avenues left to explore and tasks to undertake (see future perspectives). Overall, this thesis emphasizes how bark degradation is a gradual process and how bark is a valuable resource containing many compounds of interest (e.g., extractives) for both research and practical applications.

6. Future perspectives and outlook

In order to augment how the biological capabilities of bark can be utilized, it is imperative to understand its degradation by microorganisms, both by microbial communities and isolated species. This could enable the emergence of novel methods that facilitate alternative uses of this side-stream. This thesis provides, at least in part, some initial understanding of microbial degradation of bark using microbial communities, pure cultures, and purified enzymes focusing on both extractives and polysaccharides.

6.1 Are we barking up the wrong tree?

Although assessing the most suitable utilization of bark, may fall outside the scope of my thesis, I will share my own ideas on this.

Is burning bark preferable to its further utilization? I would argue that it is not. First and foremost, bark is a rich source of various compounds with potential medicinal and antimicrobial properties. Some of these bioactive compounds, such as antioxidants and tannins, have demonstrated health benefits (179, 180), and can be used to develop new medications or used as antimicrobial coatings. Microorganisms living on bark could also speed up agricultural processes, aiding in the breakdown of organic material.

I have focused on the bark and its degradation, but an alternative avenue might be to harness the fungi that grow on it. In my research on fungal growth on bark, I noted the rapid colonization of the bark's surface by *D. squalens*, resulting in the formation of a dense mycelium layer. This mycelium holds promise as a biomaterial, because of its tough durable properties. For example, bark could be inoculated with fungal mycelium, which would grow on the surface and produce an encasing with downstream use as packaging material.

However, it is important to note that the utilization of bark is not without challenges. Excessive harvesting of bark from trees can negatively impact ecosystems and threaten biodiversity. In conclusion, bark can be much more than just fuel. Its diverse components offer a range of applications, spanning from antimicrobial to new biomaterials.

6.2 Branching out into future research

During my research, I discovered that microbial communities cultivated on spruce bark exhibit an early degradation of resin acids (**Paper I**). It would also be valuable to investigate if similar effects to other extractive molecules can be observed during degradation of bark from other tree species. The same inoculum can be used to examine the succession of microbial communities growing on different types of bark. This would provide valuable insights on their respective degradation processes. One question is whether betulin or other molecules seem to have the same kind of role as 'gate-keeper' molecules in other bark types. One possibility is that some types of bark do not have such a dominant molecule, and their transformation is dictated by an interaction between several compounds (Fig. 6.1).

Instead of relying on an inoculum of unknown microorganisms, an alternative approach is to use a synthetic community of well-defined microorganisms. Such a strategy would make it easier to replicate experiments and to envision industrial applications. In **Paper III**, the degradation of xylan by *W. canadensis* was investigated, revealing the dependence on other microorganisms to degrade xylan. This finding opens up the possibility of using co-cultures with two or three species to improve the breakdown of such complex material as bark. The use of bark as a growth medium has two limitations: the significant presence of extractives, which impedes microbial growth, and the high lignin content, which few organisms can use as a carbon source. One potential approach to overcome these challenges involves the use of a synthetic consortium (Fig. 6.1). This consortium would consist of the resin acid-degrading bacterium *P. abieticivorans* working in synergy with a lignin-degrading fungus. By leveraging this cooperative arrangement, it becomes possible to produce a high-polymer material suitable for application as a substrate in bioreactors.

For the degradation of abietane-type diterpenoids, the *dit* cluster is a key mechanism used by resin acid degrading bacteria. There is currently little understanding of how pimaranetype resin acids are degraded or how microorganisms cope with such insoluble substrates. Notably, the isolate P. abieticivorans PIA16 degraded degrade both pimarane and abietane type resin acids. Accordingly, RNA-seq could be used to compare the expression profiles of the said cluster, as well as other relevant proteins (e.g., P450s) across these different types of resin acids (Fig. 6.1). The resulting analysis could aid in identifying an additional cluster responsible for pimarane degradation, and its cellular localization. Resin acids are insoluble in aqueous media, so it would be worthwhile to investigate whether extracellular enzymes are involved in their degradation, because the *dit* cluster is predicted to be expressed intracellularly. Alternatively, it is possible that certain enzymes from the dit cluster are secreted into the extracellular environment through outer membrane vesicles, as observed during growth of Pseudomonas putida on lignin (181). Exploring these possibilities would provide valuable insights into the mechanisms involved in resin acid degradation, shedding light on both intracellular and extracellular degradation. By heterologoously expressing and purifying enzymes from this cluster, one could further
investigate the specificities of the encoded enzymes and possibly enhance the chemical modification of resins. Thus, resin acids could be tailored for use as films or biomaterials.

As with enzymes in general, it is difficult to predict the specific substrates of tannases based solely on their amino acid sequence. Enzymes active on tannins from *C. butyricum* were studied in **Paper IV** and, in this study, I constructed a phylogenetic tree using already characterized tannases to try to find correlations with substrate preferences. However, no correlation was found. An emerging strategy for preforming substrate to enzyme domain prediction entails network analysis, which has been shown within the CAZy database to enable better substrate preference prediction (155). In the future, when characterizing new tannases, and trying to predict their function from amino acid sequences, this could prove a useful tool (Fig. 6.1).

How do we identify new bark-acting enzymes in the future? The identification of CAZymes benefits significantly from the CAZy database. I often found myself envious of researchers working with CAZymes due to the relative ease of their annotation and, to some extent, substrate prediction. Consequently, I propose development of a comparable database that consolidates knowledge regarding extractive-degrading enzymes (Fig. 6.1). The initial step would involve the compilation of data on enzymes known to interact with both hydrophobic and hydrophilic extractives. While such a database is a long-term project, the studies presented within this thesis are an excellent starting point. Information similar to that found in CAZy will enable bark valorization through the development of new biochemical, biological, and biotechnological methods.



Figure 6.1. Summary of future perspectives on bark research.

7. Acknowledgements

A thesis is truly a team effort, and I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to the wonderful folks who have lent their support in shaping the pages of this relatively slim book. Writing this PhD thesis has been a bit like laying a puzzle – you work hard to fit all the pieces (even if a few are a bit wonky) and I hope that effort I've poured into these four+ years shines through.

To kick things off, I owe a massive thanks to my supervisor, Johan Larsbrink. If it weren't for your encouragement, I wouldn't be jotting down these words. You've been an incredible mentor, imparting wisdom about CAZymes, untangling the bacteria/bacterium mystery, reminding me to italicize names in references (I might have inadvertently left out a few...), offering writing tips, and even letting me in on the trend of cat-printed t-shirts (which I can totally vouch for now!). Oh, and your contagious enthusiasm for plants is absolutely infectious (even if some of mine kick the bucket)! Your knack for churning out innovative ideas has left me both in awe and occasionally scratching my head, but it's undeniably kept me on my toes intellectually. As I wrap up my PhD journey, I'm looking forward to staying in touch!

Nestled on the lower floors of the Chemistry building, I want to extend my sincere gratitude to my co-supervisor, Merima Hasani. I'm fairly confident that no one has interacted with the "second-in-command" as much as I have throughout my PhD journey. Your presence and support have been instrumental. Thank you for embracing me into the SIKT family, generously allowing me access to your labs and instruments, and consistently keeping an open door for me – whether I needed to let off steam or seek assistance with GC/NMR. As I envision my future endeavors, I hope to embody even just 1% of your patience and kindness.

Pernilla, I want to extend my heartfelt appreciation for lightening the load of this PhD journey. Your lightning-fast email responses, meticulous reading of my advanced technology reports, and the invaluable insights you shared about preparing for an upcoming postdoc have all made a significant difference. Your role as my examiner was truly appreciated beyond words.

Thank you to my PhD thesis committee members who agreed to partake in my PhD defense.

Crafting a thesis can feel like a formidable challenge. I extend my gratitude to Tove, Tom, Sophia, Merima, Johan, Valle, Pernilla, Elin, Anna, Mamma, and Pappa for taking the time to read it and offering invaluable suggestions.

During my PhD, I had the privilege of dedicating two (admittedly hectic) months at NMBU in Norway, delving into the realms of proteomics. Magnus, your care and composed

demeanor meant the world to me, especially during moments of heightened stress and lysing cells. Shashank and Ronja, I'm immensely grateful for sharing the office space, as well as for the invaluable insights and tricks you both generously offered in the realm of metagenomics.

This entire endeavor wouldn't have come to fruition without the invaluable contributions of a diverse group of collaborators hailing from across the Nordic countries. A heartfelt appreciation goes out to Henrik from DNASense in Denmark, Magnus, Vincent, and Phil from NMBU in Norway, Anna, Chunlin, and Katja from Åbo in Finland, Alex, Albert, and Ed from Chalmers, Annika from AstraZeneca, Gisela, Valle/Sebastian/Sebbe from GU, as well as Scott, Tom, Jonas, Cecilia, Leona (now GU!) from IndBio. Your collective efforts and input have been instrumental in shaping this journey. Thank you for the ongoing feedback that you've generously shared over the years, and for being part of bringing some truly captivating (at least in my humble opinion) papers to publication.

During my time at Chalmers, I've had both the joy and, at times, the challenge of teaching. Leona, mentoring you was a delightful experience, and I genuinely hope you had a wonderful time while working on your thesis. Good luck with your PhD!

Throughout my time at Chalmers, I've been fortunate to have had exceptional guidance from past (and present) mentors, all of whom have played a pivotal role in leading me to this point. Hanna, I'm truly grateful that you took on the role of being my mentor. Every interaction with you has had a remarkable way of rejuvenating my mind, even when I started our conversations feeling tired and downcast. Your guidance has been a source of clarity and positivity. Jenny, (and Scott!) your patient mentoring of a bewildered MSc student, along with those invaluable portions of purified GEs, were invaluable. I owe a debt of gratitude to Lisbeth as well, for orchestrating those crucial initial introductions that ultimately led me to meeting Jenny before my journey to Japan (a very long time ago)!

A big shout-out to the SIKT team for their warm reception in the labs. Despite occasional mishaps like bursting water tubes or forgotten fume hoods, I consistently felt a sense of belonging and was always ready to eat some of your fruit and fika. Special thanks go to Axel, Carolina, Linus, Bea, Shirin, Lucas, Kenneth, Joanna, Anna, and Anders. Joanna, I'm truly grateful for allowing me to shadow you during those initial days of my PhD. It made a world of difference. Anna and Anders, I'm not entirely certain how our friendship blossomed, but you both are undoubtedly the most down-to-earth and brilliant individuals I've had the pleasure of knowing (Well, perhaps not Anna in the humility department!). I genuinely wish we could have squeezed in another LUS before our time at Chalmers came to an end.

The IndBio labs would undoubtedly be a chaotic scene without the incredible efforts of our two present research engineers, Pun and VJ (and the -80s might even revolt!). Your dedication to maintaining the labs in impeccable condition is truly commendable. I

appreciate your honesty in letting me know when my belongings are a bit too spread out (although I'm convinced Tom might have me beat in that regard).

I'd like to extend a heartfelt thank you to the administrative team that makes my life a little bit easier. Anne-Lise, Gunilla, Gunilla (two Gunillas), Erica, and Barbro, your dedication and efforts in managing the department's administrative tasks are greatly appreciated.

The Maple group has evolved beyond its predominantly Canadian composition, prompting me to suggest renaming it the Köttbulle group. All jokes aside, despite the occasional thought that our meetings stretched a lot longer than intended (sometimes twice the expected duration...), I genuinely appreciated the camaraderie and the engaging conversations. While crystal structures might not ignite the same level of excitement in me as they do for you all, I still found our discussions intriguing and enjoyable, as long as I could talk about bark. A warm welcome to the newest member of the Maple team, Facundo! Wishing you all the best as you em*bark* on your future endeavors.

Scott, you've truly been the finest office neighbor (apologies for those occasional outbursts of desperation). Thank you for always being open to a chat, for sharing your valuable insights, and for your unwavering passion for enzymes. Tom, I can still vividly recall when you first joined IndBio, your boundless energy and enthusiasm continues to amaze me. Never change. Jonas, you're absolutely CAZy bananas in the best way possible, and you've been an incredibly fantastic co-author (and Tom, you too, of course). Marcel, big thanks for being my guardian angel when I stumbled into the bark and IndBio realm. Your patience and assistance (maybe a bit too much at times) were like a GPS for my years here, even after your left!

Tove, the conference travels we've shared and dashing through the pouring rain in Boston have been a blast. Fabio, our escapade to New Orleans was truly memorable, navigating the city streets together. Best of luck to both of you on your PhD journeys! You rock.

Prior to relocating to my personal office in the "basement" with Stinky (the dead rat in the vent) and the spiders, I had the wonderful opportunity to share a workspace with Tove, Elena, and Cecilia. Having experienced the camaraderie of our shared office, it's difficult for me to envision sharing an office with anyone else.

Dan, Rike, Cathi, and Jonas I appreciate your confidence in me to lead you on kayaking adventures (even if they occasionally involved going upside down) along the Swedish peninsula! At least we got some good footage!

Diane, I want to express my sincere gratitude for creating the incredibly beautiful thesis cover and the captivating PIA cartouche. When I approached you with the request to create these, I wasn't sure about my vision, but you absolutely captured it perfectly. Thank you!

Bench broads crew, Helena and Annika, I just wanted to say that hitting the gym together every week has seriously been a sanity-saver for me (even though I might ramble a bit too much during breaks, Helena, guilty as charged!). Can't wait to clock in some more CrossFit sessions with you both!

Mamma & Pappa, a big shout-out for being my all-around champions during this PhD ride. You've not only given me chainsaw and ax-wielding skills, but you've also let me go all mad scientist on one of your trees. And thanks for not hounding me all the time about when I was going to wrap up/publish/visit Skåne/Blekinge... kidding!

It's safe to say that Valle has seen it all during my PhD journey, enduring everything from the early mornings for Soxhlet extractions to the late nights spent concentrating proteins (even reading this thesis...). You even made an appearance in one of my papers, all because I coerced you into doing TEM for my petite bacterium (at least they're larger than proteins!). Your unwavering presence, come rain or shine, is something I treasure immensely (and buying me ice cream and candy when I'm sad). As you approach the completion of your PhD journey, I look forward to reciprocating the support you've given me. While I might not be diving into cryo-EM, know that I'm here to back you up in any way I can. Looks like your Gothenburg humor has sneakily made its way into my system, revealing itself in various chapters of this thesis.

In the grand symphony of acknowledgments, amidst the sea of human helpers, there's one unsung hero who deserves the spotlight - my majestic fluffy feline confidant, Biggy! You have an extraordinary way of grounding me with your hairball displays, early morning meowing sessions, and your determined purring.

Finally, a heartfelt thank you goes out to all the current and past members of IndBio. Your contributions have truly shaped IndBio into an exceptional working environment.

8. References

1. Sjöström E. In: Sjöström E, editor. Wood Chemistry (Second Edition). San Diego: Academic Press; 1993. p. 109-13.

2. Yearbook of forest products statistics 2020. FAO Yearbook of Forest Products: FAO; 2020.

3. Feng S, Cheng S, Yuan Z, Leitch M, Xu CC. Valorization of bark for chemicals and materials: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2013;26:560-78.

4. Dossa GG, Schaefer D, Zhang JL, Tao JP, Cao KF, Corlett RT, et al. The cover uncovered: Bark control over wood decomposition. Journal of Ecology. 2018;106(6):2147-60.

5. Gunnar Henriksson, Lennholm H. In: Ek; M, Gellerstedt; G, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 72-99.

6. Balandrin MF, Kinghorn AD, Farnsworth NR. Plant-derived natural products in drug discovery and development: an overview. 1993:2-12.

7. Shirmohammadli Y, Efhamisisi D, Pizzi A. Tannins as a sustainable raw material for green chemistry: A review. Industrial Crops and Products. 2018;126:316-32.

8. Peng G, Roberts JC. Solubility and toxicity of resin acids. Water research. 2000;34(10):2779-85.

9. Zanella E. Effect of pH on acute toxicity of dehydroabietic acid and chlorinated dehydroabietic acid to fish and *Daphnia*. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology. 1983;30(1):133-40.

10. Sangwan N, Xia F, Gilbert JA. Recovering complete and draft population genomes from metagenome datasets. Microbiome. 2016;4(1):1-11.

11. Powell D, Groβe-Wilde E, Krokene P, Roy A, Chakraborty A, Löfstedt C, et al. A highly-contiguous genome assembly of the Eurasian spruce bark beetle, *Ips typographus*, provides insight into a major forest pest. Communications Biology. 2021;4(1):1059.

12. Nilsson T. In: Ek; M, Gellerstedt; G, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 210-44.

13. Drula E, Garron ML, Dogan S, Lombard V, Henrissat B, Terrapon N. The carbohydrate-active enzyme database: functions and literature. Nucleic Acids Res. 2022;50(D1):D571-d7.

14. Teeri T, Henriksson G. In: Gellerstedt G, Ek M, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: Walter de Gruyter; 2009. p. 245-70.

15. Alonso-Serra J, Safronov O, Lim KJ, Fraser-Miller SJ, Blokhina OB, Campilho A, et al. Tissue-specific study across the stem reveals the chemistry and transcriptome dynamics of birch bark. New Phytologist. 2019;222(4):1816-31.

16. Rosell JA. Bark in woody plants: understanding the diversity of a multifunctional structure. Integr Comp Biol. 2019;59(3):535-47.

17. Fengel D, Wegener G. In: Fengel D, Wegener G, editors. Wood: chemistry, ultrastructure, reactions: Walter de Gruyter; 1984. p. 227-38.

18. Luostarinen K, Hakkarainen K. Chemical composition of wood and its connection with wood anatomy in *Betula pubescens*. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research. 2019;34(7):577-84.

19. Le Normand M, Edlund U, Holmbom B, Ek M. Hot-water extraction and characterization of spruce bark non-cellulosic polysaccharides. Nordic Pulp & Paper Research Journal. 2012;27(1):18-23.

20. Feng S, Cheng S, Yuan Z, Leitch M, Xu C. Valorization of bark for chemicals and materials: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2013;26:560-78.

21. Kwan I, Huang T, Ek M, Seppänen R, Skagerlind P. Bark from Nordic tree species – a sustainable source for amphiphilic polymers and surfactants. Nordic Pulp & Paper Research Journal. 2022;37(4):566-75.

22. Sjöström E. In: Sjöström E, editor. Wood Chemistry (Second Edition). San Diego: Academic Press; 1993. p. 90-108.

23. Vek V, Balzano A, Poljanšek I, Humar M, Oven P. Improving fungal decay resistance of less durable sapwood by impregnation with scots pine knotwood and black locust heartwood hydrophilic extractives with antifungal or antioxidant properties. Forests. 2020;11(9):1024.

24. Onuorah EO. The wood preservative potentials of heartwood extracts of *Milicia excelsa* and *Erythrophleum suaveolens*. Bioresource Technology. 2000;75(2):171-3.

25. Taylor AM, Gartner BL, Morrell JJ, Tsunoda K. Effects of heartwood extractive fractions of *Thuja plicata* and *Chamaecyparis nootkatensis* on wood degradation by termites or fungi. Journal of Wood Science. 2006;52:147-53.

26. Chang S-T, Wang S-Y, Wu C-L, Su Y-C, Kuo Y-H. Antifungal compounds in the ethyl acetate soluble fraction of the extractives of Taiwania (*Taiwania cryptomerioides Hayata*) heartwood. 1999:487-90.

27. Schultz TP, Nicholas DD. Naturally durable heartwood: evidence for a proposed dual defensive function of the extractives. Phytochemistry. 2000;54(1):47-52.

28. Mihara R, Barry KM, Mohammed CL, Mitsunaga T. Comparison of antifungal and antioxidant activities of *Acacia mangium* and *A. auriculiformis* heartwood extracts. Journal of chemical ecology. 2005;31:789-804.

29. Leskinen T, Salas C, Kelley SS, Argyropoulos DS. Wood extractives promote cellulase activity on cellulosic substrates. Biomacromolecules. 2015;16(10):3226-34.

30. Hathway D. Oak-bark tannins. Biochemical Journal. 1958;70(1):34-42.

31. Selvakumar G, Saha S, Kundu S. Inhibitory activity of pine needle tannin extracts on some agriculturally resourceful microbes. Indian Journal of Microbiology. 2007;47(3):267-70.

32. Dai X, Liu Y, Zhuang J, Yao S, Liu L, Jiang X, et al. Discovery and characterization of tannase genes in plants: roles in hydrolysis of tannins. New Phytologist. 2020;226(4):1104-16.

33. Leppänen H, Oikari A. Occurrence of retene and resin acids in sediments and fish bile from a lake receiving pulp and paper mill effluents. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: an International Journal. 1999;18(7):1498-505.

34. Liss SN, Bicho PA, Saddler JN. Microbiology and biodegradation of resin acids in pulp mill effluents: a minireview. Canadian journal of microbiology. 1997;43(7):599-611.

35. Björklund Jansson, Marianne Nilvebrant, Nils-Olof. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. In: Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G, editors. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 147-72.

36. Novy V, Carneiro LV, Shin JH, Larsbrink J, Olsson L. Phylogenetic analysis and in-depth characterization of functionally and structurally diverse CE5 cutinases. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2021;297(5):101302.

37. Gellerstedt G. In: Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 195-218.

38. Sluiter A, Ruiz R, Scarlata C, Sluiter J, Templeton D. Determination of extractives in biomass: laboratory analytical procedure (LAP). National Renewable Energy Laboratory. 2008:1-9.

39. Örså F, Holmbom B. A convenient method for the determination of wood extractives in papermaking process waters and effluents. Journal of Pulp and Paper Science. 1994;20(12):J361-J6.

40. Sumner LW, Amberg A, Barrett D, Beale MH, Beger R, Daykin CA, et al. Proposed minimum reporting standards for chemical analysis Chemical Analysis Working Group (CAWG) Metabolomics Standards Initiative (MSI). Metabolomics. 2007;3(3):211-21.

41. García-Villalba R, Espín JC, Tomás-Barberán FA, Rocha-Guzmán NE. Comprehensive characterization by LC-DAD-MS/MS of the phenolic composition of seven *Quercus* leaf teas. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis. 2017;63:38-46.

42. Buckeridge MS, dos Santos HP, Tiné MAS. Mobilisation of storage cell wall polysaccharides in seeds. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry. 2000;38(1-2):141-56.

43. Haigler CH, Ivanova-Datcheva M, Hogan PS, Salnikov VV, Hwang S, Martin K, et al. In: Carpita NC, Campbell M, Tierney M, editors. Plant Cell Walls. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2001. p. 29-51.

44. Esko JD, Doering TL, CRH R. In: Varki A, Cummings RD, JD E, editors. Essentials of Glycobiology 2nd edition: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2009. p. 1-13.

45. Henriksson G, Lennholm H. In: Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 71-100.

46. Park S, Baker JO, Himmel ME, Parilla PA, Johnson DK. Cellulose crystallinity index: measurement techniques and their impact on interpreting cellulase performance. Biotechnology for biofuels. 2010;3:1-10.

47. Eibinger M, Ganner T, Bubner P, Rošker S, Kracher D, Haltrich D, et al. Cellulose surface degradation by a lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase and its effect on cellulase hydrolytic efficiency. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2014;289(52):35929-38.

48. O'Dwyer MH. The hemicelluloses. III. The hemicellulose of American white oak. Biochemical Journal. 1923;17(4-5):501-9.

49. Teleman A. In: Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G, editors. Wood Chemistry and Wood Biotechnology. 1: De Gruyter; 2009. p. 101-20.

50. Giummarella N, Zhang L, Henriksson G, Lawoko M. Structural features of mildly fractionated lignin carbohydrate complexes (LCC) from spruce. Royal Society of Chemistry Advances. 2016;6(48):42120-31.

51. Nishimura H, Kamiya A, Nagata T, Katahira M, Watanabe T. Direct evidence for α ether linkage between lignin and carbohydrates in wood cell walls. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):6538.

52. Vergara CE, Carpita NC. In: Carpita NC, Campbell M, Tierney M, editors. Plant Cell Walls. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2001. p. 145-60.

53. Moreira LRS, Filho EXF. An overview of mannan structure and mannan-degrading enzyme systems. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2008;79(2):165-78.

54. Kemppainen K, Siika-aho M, Pattathil S, Giovando S, Kruus K. Spruce bark as an industrial source of condensed tannins and non-cellulosic sugars. Industrial Crops and Products. 2014;52:158-68.

55. Imberty A, Chanzy H, Pérez S, Buléon A, Tran V. The double-helical nature of the crystalline part of A-starch. J Mol Biol. 1988;201(2):365-78.

56. Robyt JF. In: Fraser-Reid BO, Tatsuta K, Thiem J, editors. Glycoscience: Springer; 2008. p. 1437-72.

57. Sjöström E. In: Sjöström E, editor. Wood Chemistry (Second Edition). San Diego: Academic Press; 1993. p. 51-70.

58. Le Normand M, Rietzler B, Vilaplana F, Ek M. Macromolecular model of the pectic polysaccharides isolated from the bark of norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Polymers. 2021;13(7):1106.

59. Yadav K, Yadav S, Anand G, Yadav PK, Yadav D. Hydrolysis of complex pectin structures: Biocatalysis and bioproducts. Polysaccharide Degrading Biocatalysts: Elsevier; 2023. p. 205-25.

60. Varki A, Cummings RD, Aebi M, Packer NH, Seeberger PH, Esko JD, et al. Symbol Nomenclature for Graphical Representations of Glycans. Glycobiology. 2015;25(12):1323-4.

61. Pettolino FA, Walsh C, Fincher GB, Bacic A. Determining the polysaccharide composition of plant cell walls. Nature protocols. 2012;7(9):1590-607.

62. Ruthes AC, Martínez-Abad A, Tan H-T, Bulone V, Vilaplana F. Sequential fractionation of feruloylated hemicelluloses and oligosaccharides from wheat bran using subcritical water and xylanolytic enzymes. Green Chemistry. 2017;19(8):1919-31.

63. Miguez IS, Jorge FTA, Espinheira RP, de Sousa RR, Leitão VSF, Teixeira RSS, et al. Plant cell wall polysaccharides: Methodologies for compositional, structural, and physicochemical characterization. Polysaccharide Degrading Biocatalysts: Elsevier; 2023. p. 1-37.

64. Theander O, Westerlund EA. Studies on dietary fiber. 3. Improved procedures for analysis of dietary fiber. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 1986;34(2):330-6.

65. Bertaud F, Sundberg A, Holmbom B. Evaluation of acid methanolysis for analysis of wood hemicelluloses and pectins. Carbohydrate Polymers. 2002;48(3):319-24.

66. Sundberg A, Sundberg K, Lillandt C, Holmhom B. Determination of hemicelluloses and pectins in wood and pulp fibres by acid methanolysis and gas chromatography. Nordic Pulp & Paper Research Journal. 1996;11(4):216-9.

67. Michel KP, Sluiter JB, Payne C, Ness R, Thornton B, Reed M, et al. Determination of cellulosic glucan content in starch containing feedstocks (Laboratory Analytical Procedure). National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL), Golden, CO (United States); 2021.

68. del Río JC, Rencoret J, Gutiérrez A, Elder T, Kim H, Ralph J. Lignin Monomers from beyond the Canonical Monolignol Biosynthetic Pathway: Another Brick in the Wall. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering. 2020;8(13):4997-5012.

69. Rencoret J, Neiva D, Marques G, Gutiérrez A, Kim H, Gominho J, et al. Hydroxystilbene glucosides are incorporated into Norway spruce bark lignin. Plant Physiology. 2019;180(3):1310-21.

70. Krogell J, Holmbom B, Pranovich A, Hemming J, Willför S. Extraction and chemical characterization of Norway spruce inner and outer bark. Nordic Pulp & Paper Research Journal. 2012;27(1):6-17.

71. Jurak E, Punt AM, Arts W, Kabel MA, Gruppen H. Fate of carbohydrates and lignin during composting and mycelium growth of *Agaricus bisporus* on wheat straw based compost. PloS one. 2015;10(10):e0138909.

72. Huang F, Singh PM, Ragauskas AJ. Characterization of milled wood lignin (MWL) in loblolly pine stem wood, residue, and bark. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry. 2011;59(24):12910-6.

73. van Erven G, Kleijn AF, Patyshakuliyeva A, Di Falco M, Tsang A, de Vries RP, et al. Evidence for ligninolytic activity of the ascomycete fungus *Podospora anserina*. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2020;13(1):1-12.

van Erven G, de Visser R, de Waard P, van Berkel WJH, Kabel MA. Uniformly
13C Labeled Lignin Internal Standards for Quantitative Pyrolysis–GC–MS Analysis of
Grass and Wood. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering. 2019;7(24):20070-6.

75. Sluiter A, Hames B, Ruiz RO, Scarlata C, Sluiter J, Templeton D. Determination of Ash in Biomass. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. 2008:1-6.

76. Madigan MT, Martinko JM, Dunlap PV, Clark DP. In: Madigan MT, Martinko JM, Dunlap PV, Clark DP, editors. Brock biology of microorganisms. 122008. p. 653-69.

77. Schimel JP, Schaeffer SM. Microbial control over carbon cycling in soil. Frontiers in microbiology. 2012;3:348.

78. Yarza P, Yilmaz P, Pruesse E, Glöckner FO, Ludwig W, Schleifer K-H, et al. Uniting the classification of cultured and uncultured bacteria and archaea using 16S rRNA gene sequences. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2014;12(9):635-45.

79. Martin KJ, Rygiewicz PT. Fungal-specific PCR primers developed for analysis of the ITS region of environmental DNA extracts. BMC microbiology. 2005;5(1):1-11.

80. Hassani M, Durán P, Hacquard S. Microbial interactions within the plant holobiont. Microbiome. 2018;6(1):1-17.

81. Kubicek CP. The actors: plant biomass degradation by fungi. Fungi and Lignocellulosic Biomass. 1st ed: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated; 2012. p. 29-44.

82. Deschamps A. Nutritional capacities of bark and wood decaying bacteria with particular emphasis on condensed tannin degrading strains. European Journal of Forest Pathology. 1982;12(4-5):252-7.

83. Kielak AM, Scheublin TR, Mendes LW, van Veen JA, Kuramae EE. Bacterial community succession in pine-wood decomposition. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2016;7:231.

84. Kobayashi K, Aoyagi H. Microbial community structure analysis in *Acer palmatum* bark and isolation of novel bacteria IAD-21 of the phylum *Abditibacteriota* (former candidate division FBP). PeerJ. 2019;7:e7876.

85. Jeffrey LC, Maher DT, Chiri E, Leung PM, Nauer PA, Arndt SK, et al. Barkdwelling methanotrophic bacteria decrease methane emissions from trees. Nature communications. 2021;12(1):1-8.

86. Kazartsev I, Shorohova E, Kapitsa E, Kushnevskaya H. Decaying *Picea abies* log bark hosts diverse fungal communities. Fungal Ecology. 2018;33:1-12.

87. Haq IU, Hillmann B, Moran M, Willard S, Knights D, Fixen KR, et al. Bacterial communities associated with wood rot fungi that use distinct decomposition mechanisms. ISME Communications. 2022;2(1):26.

88. Martin VJ, Mohn WW. A novel aromatic-ring-hydroxylating dioxygenase from the diterpenoid-degrading bacterium *Pseudomonas abietaniphila* BKME-9. Journal of bacteriology. 1999;181(9):2675-82.

89. Martin VJ, Yu Z, Mohn WW. Recent advances in understanding resin acid biodegradation: microbial diversity and metabolism. Archives of Microbiology. 1999;172:131-8.

90. Witzig R, Aly HA, Strömpl C, Wray V, Junca H, Pieper DH. Molecular detection and diversity of novel diterpenoid dioxygenase DitA1 genes from proteobacterial strains and soil samples. Environmental microbiology. 2007;9(5):1202-18.

91. Chaumeil P-A, Mussig AJ, Hugenholtz P, Parks DH. GTDB-Tk: a toolkit to classify genomes with the Genome Taxonomy Database. 2020;36(6):1925–7.

92. Meier-Kolthoff JP, Carbasse JS, Peinado-Olarte RL, Göker M. TYGS and LPSN: a database tandem for fast and reliable genome-based classification and nomenclature of prokaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res. 2021;50(D1):D801-D7.

93. Mulet M, Bennasar A, Lalucat J, García-Valdés E. An *rpoD*-based PCR procedure for the identification of *Pseudomonas* species and for their detection in environmental samples. Molecular and Cellular Probes. 2009;23(3):140-7.

94. Richter M, Rosselló-Móra R. Shifting the genomic gold standard for the prokaryotic species definition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009;106(45):19126-31.

95. Bateman A, Coin L, Durbin R, Finn RD, Hollich V, Griffiths-Jones S, et al. The Pfam protein families database. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32:D138-D41.

96. Haft DH, Selengut JD, Richter RA, Harkins D, Basu MK, Beck E. TIGRFAMs and genome properties in 2013. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012;41(D1):D387-D95.

97. Paysan-Lafosse T, Blum M, Chuguransky S, Grego T, Pinto BL, Salazar GA, et al. InterPro in 2022. Nucleic Acids Res. 2023;51(D1):D418-D27.

98. Cantalapiedra CP, Hernández-Plaza A, Letunic I, Bork P, Huerta-Cepas J. eggNOG-mapper v2: functional annotation, orthology assignments, and domain prediction at the metagenomic scale. Molecular biology and evolution. 2021;38(12):5825-9.

99. Zheng J, Ge Q, Yan Y, Zhang X, Huang L, Yin Y. dbCAN3: automated carbohydrate-active enzyme and substrate annotation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2023;51:W115-W21.

100. Palleroni NJ. In: Brenner DJ, editor. Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology 2. New York, NY: Springer Verlag; 2005. p. 323–79.

101. Wilson A, Moore E, Mohn WW. Isolation and characterization of isopimaric aciddegrading bacteria from a sequencing batch reactor. Applied and environmental microbiology. 1996;62(9):3146-51.

102. Mohn WW, Wilson AE, Bicho P, Moore ERB. Physiological and phylogenetic diversity of bacteria growing on resin acids. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 1999;22(1):68-78.

103. Luchnikova NA, Ivanova KM, Tarasova EV, Grishko VV, Ivshina IB. Microbial conversion of toxic resin acids. Molecules. 2019;24(22):4121.

104. Martin VJ, Mohn WW. Genetic investigation of the catabolic pathway for degradation of abietane diterpenoids by *Pseudomonas abietaniphila* BKME-9. Journal of bacteriology. 2000;182(13):3784-93.

105. Smith DJ, Patrauchan MA, Florizone C, Eltis LD, Mohn WW. Distinct roles for two CYP226 family cytochromes P450 in abietane diterpenoid catabolism by *Burkholderia xenovorans* LB400. Journal of bacteriology. 2008;190(5):1575-83.

106. Smith DJ, Martin VJ, Mohn WW. A cytochrome P450 involved in the metabolism of abietane diterpenoids by *Pseudomonas abietaniphila* BKME-9. Journal of bacteriology. 2004;186(11):3631-9.

107. Mäkelä MR, Donofrio N, de Vries RP. Plant biomass degradation by fungi. Fungal Genetics and Biology. 2014;72:2-9.

108. Kurtzman CP, Fell JW, Boekhout T. Definition, classification and nomenclature of the yeasts. The yeasts: Elsevier; 2011. p. 3-5.

109. Jimenez M, Gonzalez A, Martinez M, Martinez A, Dale B. Screening of yeasts isolated from decayed wood for lignocellulose-degrading enzyme activities. Mycological research. 1991;95(11):1299-302.

110. Gutiérrez A, del Río JC, Martínez ÁT. Fungi and their enzymes for pitch control in the pulp and paper industry. Industrial Applications. 2011:357-77.

111. Iwata M, Gutiérrez A, Marques G, Sabat G, Kersten PJ, Cullen D, et al. Omics analyses and biochemical study of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* elucidate its degradation strategy of wood extractives. Scientific Reports. 2021;11(1):1-14.

112. Hori C, Ishida T, Igarashi K, Samejima M, Suzuki H, Master E, et al. Analysis of the *Phlebiopsis gigantea* genome, transcriptome and secretome provides insight into its pioneer colonization strategies of wood. PLoS Genetics. 2014;10(12):e1004759.

70

113. Ferraz A, Córdova AM, Machuca A. Wood biodegradation and enzyme production by *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora* during solid-state fermentation of *Eucalyptus grandis*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology. 2003;32(1):59-65.

114. Guerra A, Mendonça R, Ferraz A. Molecular weight distribution of wood components extracted from *Pinus taeda* biotreated by *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology. 2003;33(1):12-8.

115. Belt T, Hänninen T, Rautkari L. Antioxidant activity of Scots pine heartwood and knot extractives and implications for resistance to brown rot. Holzforschung. 2017;71(6):527-34.

116. Thuillier A, Chibani K, Belli G, Herrero E, Dumarçay S, Gérardin P, et al. Transcriptomic responses of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* to oak acetonic extracts: focus on a new glutathione transferase. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2014;80(20):6316-27.

117. Martins I, Garcia H, Varela A, Núñez O, Planchon S, Galceran MT, et al. Investigating *Aspergillus nidulans* secretome during colonisation of cork cell walls. Journal of Proteomics. 2014;98:175-88.

118. Valentín L, Kluczek-Turpeinen B, Willför S, Hemming J, Hatakka A, Steffen K, et al. Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) bark composition and degradation by fungi: Potential substrate for bioremediation. Bioresource Technology. 2010;101(7):2203-9.

119. Samson RA, Houbraken J, Thrane U, Frisvad JC, Andersen B. In: Crous PW, Samson RA, editors. Food and indoor fungi: Westerdijk Fungal Biodiversity Institute; 2019. p. 1-9.

120. Molina-Espeja P. Next generation winemakers: Genetic engineering in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for trendy challenges. Bioengineering. 2020;7(4):128.

121. Nielsen J, Tillegreen CB, Petranovic D. Innovation trends in industrial biotechnology. Trends in Biotechnology. 2022;40(10):1160-72.

122. Ravn JL, Engqvist MKM, Larsbrink J, Geijer C. CAZyme prediction in ascomycetous yeast genomes guides discovery of novel xylanolytic species with diverse capacities for hemicellulose hydrolysis. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2021;14(1):150.

123. Šuchová K, Fehér C, Ravn JL, Bedő S, Biely P, Geijer C. Cellulose- and xylandegrading yeasts: Enzymes, applications and biotechnological potential. Biotechnology Advances. 2022;59:107981.

124. Artzi L, Bayer EA, Moraïs S. Cellulosomes: bacterial nanomachines for dismantling plant polysaccharides. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2017;15(2):83-95.

125. Haitjema CH, Gilmore SP, Henske JK, Solomon KV, de Groot R, Kuo A, et al. A parts list for fungal cellulosomes revealed by comparative genomics. Nature Microbiology. 2017;2:17087.

126. Schomburg I, Chang A, Ebeling C, Gremse M, Heldt C, Huhn G, et al. BRENDA, the enzyme database: updates and major new developments. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32:D431-D3.

127. Hotelier T, Renault L, Cousin X, Negre V, Marchot P, Chatonnet A. ESTHER, the database of the α/β -hydrolase fold superfamily of proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 2004;32:D145-D7.

128. Desmet T, Soetaert W, Bojarová P, Křen V, Dijkhuizen L, Eastwick-Field V, et al. Enzymatic Glycosylation of small molecules: challenging substrates require tailored catalysts. Chemistry – A European Journal. 2012;18(35):10786-801.

129. Lapébie P, Lombard V, Drula E, Terrapon N, Henrissat B. Bacteroidetes use thousands of enzyme combinations to break down glycans. Nature Communications. 2019;10(1):2043.

130. Moroz OV, Blagova E, Lebedev AA, Skov LK, Pache RA, Schnorr KM, et al. Module walking using an SH3-like cell-wall-binding domain leads to a new GH184 family of muramidases. Acta Crystallogr D Struct Biol. 2023;79(Pt 8):706-20.

131. Zhang H, Yohe T, Huang L, Entwistle S, Wu P, Yang Z, et al. dbCAN2: a meta server for automated carbohydrate-active enzyme annotation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2018;46(W1):W95-W101.

132. Larsbrink J, McKee LS. Bacteroidetes bacteria in the soil: Glycan acquisition, enzyme secretion, and gliding motility. Advances in applied microbiology. 2020;110:63-98.

133. Martens EC, Koropatkin NM, Smith TJ, Gordon JI. Complex glycan catabolism by the human gut microbiota: the Bacteroidetes Sus-like paradigm. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2009;284(37):24673-7.

134. McKee LS, La Rosa SL, Westereng B, Eijsink VG, Pope PB, Larsbrink J. Polysaccharide degradation by the Bacteroidetes: mechanisms and nomenclature. Environmental Microbiology Reports. 2021;13(5):559-81.

135. Ong S-E, Mann M. Mass spectrometry–based proteomics turns quantitative. Nature chemical biology. 2005;1(5):252-62.

136. Cox J, Mann M. MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized ppb-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. Nature biotechnology. 2008;26(12):1367-72.

137. Nahnsen S, Bielow C, Reinert K, Kohlbacher O. Tools for label-free peptide quantification. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2013;12(3):549-56.

138. Elpers L, Deiwick J, Hensel M. Effect of environmental temperatures on proteome composition of *Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium*. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2022;21(8):100265.

139. Nguyen TTA, Michaud D, Cloutier C. A proteomic analysis of the aphid *Macrosiphum euphorbiae* under heat and radiation stress. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology. 2009;39(1):20-30.

140. Oda K, Kakizono D, Yamada O, Iefuji H, Akita O, Iwashita K. Proteomic analysis of extracellular proteins from *Aspergillus oryzae* grown under submerged and solid-state culture conditions. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2006;72(5):3448-57.

141. Bengtsson O, Arntzen MØ, Mathiesen G, Skaugen M, Eijsink VGH. A novel proteomics sample preparation method for secretome analysis of *Hypocrea jecorina* growing on insoluble substrates. Journal of Proteomics. 2016;131:104-12.

142. Tuveng TR, Eijsink VGH, Arntzen MØ. Proteomic detection of Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes (CAZymes) in microbial secretomes. In: Wang X, Kuruc M, editors. Functional Proteomics: Methods and Protocols. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2019. p. 159-77.

143. Arntzen MØ, Bengtsson O, Várnai A, Delogu F, Mathiesen G, Eijsink VGH. Quantitative comparison of the biomass-degrading enzyme repertoires of five filamentous fungi. Scientific Reports. 2020;10(1):20267.

144. Käll L, Krogh A, Sonnhammer EL. A combined transmembrane topology and signal peptide prediction method. Journal of molecular biology. 2004;338(5):1027-36.

145. Teufel F, Almagro Armenteros JJ, Johansen AR, Gislason MH, Pihl SI, Tsirigos KD, et al. SignalP 6.0 predicts all five types of signal peptides using protein language models. Nature biotechnology. 2022;40(7):1023-5.

146. Horton P, Park K-J, Obayashi T, Fujita N, Harada H, Adams-Collier C, et al. WoLF PSORT: protein localization predictor. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007;35:W585-W7.

147. Hegnar OA, Østby H, Petrović DM, Olsson L, Várnai A, Eijsink VG. Quantifying oxidation of cellulose-associated glucuronoxylan by two lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases from Neurospora crassa. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2021;87(24):e01652-21.

148. Frommhagen M, Sforza S, Westphal AH, Visser J, Hinz SW, Koetsier MJ, et al. Discovery of the combined oxidative cleavage of plant xylan and cellulose by a new fungal polysaccharide monooxygenase. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2015;8(1):1-12.

149. Tõlgo M, Hegnar OA, Østby H, Várnai A, Vilaplana F, Eijsink VG, et al. Comparison of six lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases from *Thermothielavioides terrestris* shows that functional variation underlies the multiplicity of LPMO genes in filamentous fungi. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2022;88(6):e00096-22.

150. Hüttner S, Várnai A, Petrović DM, Bach CX, Kim Anh DT, Thanh VN, et al. Specific xylan activity revealed for AA9 lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases of the thermophilic fungus *Malbranchea cinnamomea* by functional characterization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2019;85(23):e01408-19.

151. Golten O, Ayuso-Fernández I, Hall KR, Stepnov AA, Sørlie M, Røhr ÅK, et al. Reductants fuel lytic polysaccharide monooxygenase activity in a pH-dependent manner. FEBS letters. 2023:1363-74.

152. Holm L. DALI and the persistence of protein shape. Protein Science. 2020;29(1):128-40.

153. Schmerling C, Sewald L, Heilmann G, Witfeld F, Begerow D, Jensen K, et al. Identification of fungal lignocellulose-degrading biocatalysts secreted by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* via activity-based protein profiling. Communications Biology. 2022;5(1):1254.

154. Nguyen ST, Freund HL, Kasanjian J, Berlemont R. Function, distribution, and annotation of characterized cellulases, xylanases, and chitinases from CAZy. Applied microbiology and biotechnology. 2018;102:1629-37.

155. Lombard V, Golaconda Ramulu H, Drula E, Coutinho PM, Henrissat B. The carbohydrate-active enzymes database (CAZy) in 2013. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42(D1):D490-D5.

156. Maicas S. The role of yeasts in fermentation processes. MDPI. 2020;8(8):1142.

157. Huy ND, Nguyen CL, Seo JW, Kim DH, Park SM. Putative endoglucanase PcGH5 from *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* is a β -xylosidase that cleaves xylans in synergistic action with endo-xylanase. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering. 2015;119(4):416-20.

158. Paës G, Berrin J-G, Beaugrand J. GH11 xylanases: Structure/function/properties relationships and applications. Biotechnology Advances. 2012;30(3):564-92.

159. Nordberg Karlsson E, Schmitz E, Linares-Pastén JA, Adlercreutz P. Endoxylanases as tools for production of substituted xylooligosaccharides with prebiotic properties. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2018;102(21):9081-8.

160. Shen X-X, Opulente DA, Kominek J, Zhou X, Steenwyk JL, Buh KV, et al. Tempo and mode of genome evolution in the budding yeast subphylum. Cell. 2018;175(6):1533-45.e20.

161. Kontkanen H, Tenkanen M, Reinikainen T. Purification and characterisation of a novel steryl esterase from *Melanocarpus albomyces*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology. 2006;39(2):265-73.

162. Ranathunge K, Schreiber L, Franke R. Suberin research in the genomics era—new interest for an old polymer. Plant Science. 2011;180(3):399-413.

163. Contreras-Domínguez M, Guyot S, Marnet N, Le Petit J, Perraud-Gaime I, Roussos S, et al. Degradation of procyanidins by *Aspergillus fumigatus*: Identification of a novel aromatic ring cleavage product. Biochimie. 2006;88(12):1899-908.

164. Aguilar CN, Rodríguez R, Gutiérrez-Sánchez G, Augur C, Favela-Torres E, Prado-Barragan LA, et al. Microbial tannases: advances and perspectives. Applied microbiology and biotechnology. 2007;76(1):47-59.

165. Govindarajan R, Revathi S, Rameshkumar N, Krishnan M, Kayalvizhi N. Microbial tannase: Current perspectives and biotechnological advances. Biocatalysis and agricultural biotechnology. 2016;6:168-75.

166. Niehaus JU, Gross GG. A gallotannin degrading esterase from leaves of pedunculate oak. Phytochemistry. 1997;45(8):1555-60.

167. Dilokpimol A, Mäkelä MR, Varriale S, Zhou M, Cerullo G, Gidijala L, et al. Fungal feruloyl esterases: Functional validation of genome mining based enzyme discovery including uncharacterized subfamilies. New Biotechnology. 2018;41:9-14.

168. Böer E, Bode R, Mock H-P, Piontek M, Kunze G. Atan1p—an extracellular tannase from the dimorphic yeast *Arxula adeninivorans*: molecular cloning of the ATAN1 gene and characterization of the recombinant enzyme. Yeast. 2009;26(6):323-37.

169. Jiménez N, Barcenilla JM, de Felipe FL, de Las Rivas B, Muñoz R. Characterization of a bacterial tannase from *Streptococcus gallolyticus* UCN34 suitable for tannin biodegradation. Applied microbiology and biotechnology. 2014;98(14):6329-37.

170. Jiménez N, Reverón I, Esteban-Torres M, de Felipe FL, de Las Rivas B, Muñoz R. Genetic and biochemical approaches towards unravelling the degradation of gallotannins by *Streptococcus gallolyticus*. Microbial cell factories. 2014;13(1):1-11.

171. Curiel JA, Rodríguez H, Acebrón I, Mancheño JM, De Las Rivas B, Muñoz R. Production and physicochemical properties of recombinant *Lactobacillus plantarum* tannase. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2009;57(14):6224-30.

172. Ueda S, Nomoto R, Yoshida K-i, Osawa R. Comparison of three tannases cloned from closely related lactobacillus species: *L. plantarum, L. paraplantarum,* and *L. pentosus.* BMC microbiology. 2014;14(1):1-9.

173. Bisswanger H. Enzyme assays. Perspectives in Science. 2014;1(1):41-55.

174. Chernonosov AA, Karpova EA, Lyakh EM. Identification of phenolic compounds in *Myricaria bracteata* leaves by high-performance liquid chromatography with a diode array detector and liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry. Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia. 2017;27:576-9.

175. Colby SM, Nuñez JR, Hodas NO, Corley CD, Renslow RR. Deep learning to generate in silico chemical property libraries and candidate molecules for small molecule identification in complex samples. Analytical chemistry. 2019;92(2):1720-9.

176. Robert X, Gouet P. Deciphering key features in protein structures with the new ENDscript server. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42(W1):W320-W4.

177. Song X-C, Canellas E, Dreolin N, Nerin C, Goshawk J. Discovery and characterization of phenolic compounds in bearberry (*Arctostaphylos uva-ursi*) leaves using Liquid Chromatography–Ion Mobility–High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2021;69(37):10856-68.

178. Venter P, Causon T, Pasch H, de Villiers A. Comprehensive analysis of chestnut tannins by reversed phase and hydrophilic interaction chromatography coupled to ion mobility and high resolution mass spectrometry. Analytica chimica acta. 2019;1088:150-67.

179. Adlercreutz H. Lignans and human health. Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences. 2007;44(5-6):483-525.

180. Spilioti E, Holmbom B, Papavassiliou AG, Moutsatsou P. Lignans 7hydroxymatairesinol and 7-hydroxymatairesinol 2 exhibit anti-inflammatory activity in human aortic endothelial cells. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research. 2014;58(4):749-59. 181. Salvachúa D, Werner AZ, Pardo I, Michalska M, Black BA, Donohoe BS, et al. Outer membrane vesicles catabolize lignin-derived aromatic compounds in *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020;117(17):9302-10.